

City Research Online

City, University of London Institutional Repository

Citation: Castro-Alvaredo, O. & Horvath, D. (2021). Branch point twist field form factors in the sine-Gordon model I: Breather fusion and entanglement dynamics. SciPost Physics, 10(6), 132. doi: 10.21468/scipostphys.10.6.132

This is the published version of the paper.

This version of the publication may differ from the final published version.

Permanent repository link: https://openaccess.city.ac.uk/id/eprint/27838/

Link to published version: https://doi.org/10.21468/scipostphys.10.6.132

Copyright: City Research Online aims to make research outputs of City, University of London available to a wider audience. Copyright and Moral Rights remain with the author(s) and/or copyright holders. URLs from City Research Online may be freely distributed and linked to.

Reuse: Copies of full items can be used for personal research or study, educational, or not-for-profit purposes without prior permission or charge. Provided that the authors, title and full bibliographic details are credited, a hyperlink and/or URL is given for the original metadata page and the content is not changed in any way.
 City Research Online:
 http://openaccess.city.ac.uk/
 publications@city.ac.uk

Branch point twist field form factors in the sine-Gordon model I: Breather fusion and entanglement dynamics

Olalla A. Castro-Alvaredo^{1*} and David X. Horvath^{2†}

 Department of Mathematics, City, University of London, 10 Northampton Square EC1V 0HB, UK
 SISSA and INFN Sezione di Trieste, via Bonomea 265, 34136 Trieste, Italy

* o.castro-alvaredo@city.ac.uk, † david.horvath@sissa.it

Abstract

The quantum sine-Gordon model is the simplest massive interacting integrable quantum field theory whose two-particle scattering matrix is generally non-diagonal. As such, it is a model that has been extensively studied, especially in the context of the bootstrap program. In this paper we compute low particle-number form factors of a special local field known as the branch point twist field, whose correlation functions are building blocks for measures of entanglement. We consider the attractive regime where the theory possesses a particle spectrum consisting of a soliton, an antisoliton (of opposite U(1) charges) and several (neutral) breathers. In the breather sector we exploit the fusion procedure to compute form factors of heavier breathers from those of lighter ones. We apply our results to the study of the entanglement dynamics after a small mass quench and for short times. We show that in the presence of two or more breathers the von Neumann and Rényi entropies display undamped oscillations in time, whose frequencies are proportional to the even breather masses and whose amplitudes are proportional to the breather's one-particle form factor.

😇 🕛 Copyright O. A. Castro-Alvaredo and D. X. Horvath.	Received 31-03-2021	
This work is licensed under the Creative Commons	Accepted 31-05-2021	
Attribution 4.0 International License.	Published 04-06-2021	updates
Published by the SciPost Foundation.	doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys	.10.6.132

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Main Features of the Model	3
3	Branch Point Twist Fields in a Nutshell	5
	3.1 Form Factors and Form Factor Equations	6
4	Soliton-Antisoliton Form Factors	7
5	Breather Form Factors	10
	5.1 Minimal Form Factor and Form Factors of b_1	10
	5.2 Fusion Procedure	11
	5.2.1 Higher Breather Form Factors	12

	5.3 Some Consistency Checks	13				
6	Consistency Checks by Δ Sum Rule	14				
7	Application: Entanglement Oscillations after a Mass Quench	16				
8	Conclusion	19				
A	Minimal Form Factors Mixed Representations	20				
B	Computation of Branch Point Twist Field Breather Form Factors from Fusion	21				
	B.1 Computation of $F_{b_3b_1}(\theta;\xi,n)$	21				
	B.2 Computation of $F_{b_4}(\xi, n)$ from Fusion in $F_{b_3b_1}(\theta; \xi, n)$	21				
	B.3 Computation of $F_{b_2b_2}(\theta;\xi,n)$	22				
	B.4 Computation of F_{b_4} from Fusion in $F_{b_2b_2}(\theta;\xi,n)$	23				
С	Form Factors of the Stress-Energy Tensor from Fusion	23				
	C.1 Computation of $F_{b_2}^{\Theta}(\xi)$	24				
	C.2 Computation of $F_{b_2b_1b_1}^{\Theta}(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3; \xi)$	24				
	C.3 Computation of $F_{b_2b_2}^{\tilde{\Theta}}(\theta;\xi)$	25				
	C.4 Computation of $F_{b_4}^{\check{\Theta}}(\tilde{\xi})$	25				
	C.5 Computation of $F_{b_3b_1}^{\Theta}(\theta;\xi)$	26				
D	Dynamical Poles of the Soliton-Antisoliton Form Factors	26				
E	Δ Sum Rule Evaluation	30				
Re	References 32					

1 Introduction

The quantum relativistic sine-Gordon model is a paradigmatic example of an integrable quantum field theory (IQFT) that is amenable to solution by the bootstrap program. It provides the simplest example of a theory that is interacting and has a non-diagonal *S*-matrix, famously obtained in [1]. This means that the theory allows for backscattering or, in a different language, the *S*-matrix is a non-trivial solution of the Yang-Baxter equation. The theory has a rich particle spectrum containing two fundamental particles known as the soliton (*s*) and the antisoliton (\bar{s}) and a tower of breathers (b_k) which can be interpreted both as soliton-antisoliton bound states and as bound states of lighter breathers. The number and masses of these breathers depend on the model's coupling constant. Although the theory is non-diagonal in the standard scattering matrix sense, the breather sector is diagonal and this simplifies form factor computations considerably. In addition, in a certain coupling constant regime, the sine-Gordon model can be seen as the continuum limit of another paradigmatic integrable theory, namely the spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ XXZ quantum spin chain.

In the context of the bootstrap program for IQFTs, the matrix elements of local operators (e.g. form factors) of the sine-Gordon model have been extensively studied by many authors. Some of the earliest results are due to F.A. Smirnov [2, 3], followed by a long series of works

by the Berlin group [4–8]. In both cases, the form factors are given in terms of integral representations and expanded on a basis of off-shell Bethe vectors. A different approach known as free field representation was employed in [11,12] and the fermionic structure of the model was exploited in [14, 15], where on-shell Bethe vectors are proposed as a basis for the form factor decomposition. Form factors of the order and disorder fields were first obtained in [9] and applied in the study of the Ashkin-Teller model in [9, 10]. Of particular interest to us is the work [12] which focused on breather form factors and used the fusion technique in order to obtain form factors of heavier breathers from those of the lightest one (note that this technique had already been employed much earlier in the work of Smirnov [3]). There has also been intense study and a large body of applications of sine-Gordon form factors in various other contexts such as the case of finite temperature one-point functions [16, 17], quantum quenches [18–20] and boundary field theory [21] and, in particular, in finite volume [22–24] where once again fusion techniques can be employed.

Finally, it is important to note that many studies of the breather form factors (particularly those where fusion is used) exploit the relationship between the sine-Gordon and sinh-Gordon theories. At Lagrangian level the two theories are identical up to the complexification of the coupling constant. In addition, the two-particle *S*-matrix of the first (lightest) breather is mapped to the two-particle scattering matrix of the sinh-Gordon particle under the same transformation. This implies that the form factors of the first breather (and by fusion, also those of higher breathers) can be obtained from those of the sinh-Gordon field by simply changing the coupling constant dependence. Then the sinh-Gordon form factors computed in various papers [7, 13, 25, 26] become the starting point of computations in the sine-Gordon model.

The works we have referred to so far are concerned with "standard" local fields of the sine-Gordon theory, such as the sine-Gordon field φ , its powers and, especially, exponential fields of the form $e^{ia\varphi}$ which are of particular interest as they are related to the trace of the stress-energy tensor. In the present work our main aim is to generalize these results to branch point twist fields, starting with the branch point twist field and associated form factor program introduced in [27], and then continuing (in part II) with the symmetry resolved branch point twist field recently introduced in [28, 29]. Twist field form factors of the sine-Gordon model were first studied in [30] but only in the so-called repulsive regime where no breathers are present. In this paper we extend those results to the situation when several breathers are present focussing on all non-vanishing one- and two-particle form factors. In the breather sector we employ the results of [27] and [31] where the two- and four-particle form factors of the sinh-Gordon field were obtained, respectively. These will constitute our starting point when employing the fusion procedure to obtain lower particle form factors of higher breathers.

The paper is organized as follows: In Section 2 we review some general results for the sine-Gordon model, notably its *S*-matrix and particle spectrum. In Section 3 we review the definition of the branch point twist field and the main equations satisfied by its form factors. In Section 4 we diagonalize the two-particle form factor equations to compute the two-particle soliton-antisoliton form factor. We put special emphasis on the discussion of its dynamical pole structure. In Section 5 we use fusion to compute one- and two-particle breather form factors, including up to four breathers and carry out some simple consistency checks of our solutions. In Section 6 we evaluate the Δ sum rule in several coupling regimes, finding very good agreement with the exact value of the branch point twist field conformal dimension for all coupling choices. In Section 7 we discuss one application of our results to the study of the entanglement dynamics following a mass quench. We conclude in Section 8. The more technical details of our work are presented in various Appendices. Appendix A summarizes some useful formulae for the minimal form factors. Appendices B and C give details of the computation of breather form factors for the branch point twist field and the trace of the

stress-energy tensor, respectively. In both cases we use the fusion procedure. In Appendix D we analyse in more detail the dynamical pole axiom for the soliton-antisoliton form factors. In Appendix E we present some additional numerical results concerning our evaluation of the the Δ sum rule.

2 Main Features of the Model

The sine-Gordon model is characterized by the following euclidean action

$$\mathcal{A} = \int dx dt \left[\frac{1}{16\pi} \left[(\partial_0 \varphi)^2 - (\partial_1 \varphi)^2 \right] - 2\mu \cos(g\varphi) \right], \tag{1}$$

where *g* and μ are coupling constants and φ is a scalar field. As anticipated in the introduction, this action becomes that of another theory, know as sinh-Gordon model under the mapping $g \mapsto ig$ with $g \in \mathbb{R}$. For generic values of the coupling, the theory has a rich particle spectrum consisting of a soliton (*s*) and anti-soliton (\bar{s}) of opposite U(1) charge and a family of bound states known as breathers. Defining the new coupling

$$\xi = \frac{g^2}{1 - g^2},\tag{2}$$

we have that the masses of the breathers take the form

$$m_k = 2m\sin\frac{\pi k\xi}{2} \quad \text{for} \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, \ell(\xi), \tag{3}$$

where *m* is the mass of the soliton and the anti-soliton and $\ell(\xi) = \frac{1}{\xi} - 1$ if $\frac{1}{\xi} \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $[\frac{1}{\xi}]$ otherwise, where $[\cdot]$ denotes the integer part. The mass *m* is related to the couplings μ and *g* through the mass-coupling relation

$$\mu = \frac{\Gamma(g^2)}{\pi\Gamma(1-g^2)} \left[\frac{m\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma(\frac{1}{2-2g^2})}{2\Gamma(\frac{g^2}{2-2g^2})} \right]^{2-2g^2},$$
(4)

first found in [32]. There are various interesting regimes:

- For ξ > 1 there are no bound states and the full spectrum consist only of the soliton and the antisoliton. This is called the *repulsive regime*. In this regime, the theory is equivalent to the *massive Thirring model*, a perturbation of the massive Dirac theory that preserves the U(1) symmetry. We studied the entanglement entropy in this particular regime in [30].
- The point $\xi = 1$ is special as can be seen more precisely from the *S*-matrices given below. From (5) we have that $S_{ss}^{ss}(\theta) = S_{\bar{s}\bar{s}}^{\bar{s}\bar{s}}(\theta) = -1$ and also $S_{s\bar{s}}^{s\bar{s}}(\theta) = -1$ and $S_{s\bar{s}}^{\bar{s}s}(\theta) = 0$. At this point the theory becomes a *Dirac free fermion*.
- For ξ < 1 the model is in the *attractive regime* were bound states (breathers) are formed with the masses (3).
- In particular, whenever $\frac{1}{\xi} = n$, with $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ the non-diagonal scattering amplitude $S_{s\bar{s}}^{\bar{s}s}(\theta) = 0$ is vanishing and the theory becomes diagonal. In fact, it reduces to the D_n -minimal Toda field theory.

Sci Posi

The *S*-matrices are [1]

$$S_{ss}^{ss}(\theta) = S_{\overline{ss}}^{\overline{ss}}(\theta) = -\exp\left[-i\int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{dt}{t} \frac{\sinh\frac{\pi t(1-\xi)}{2}\sin(t\theta)}{\sinh\frac{\pi t\xi}{2}\cosh\frac{\pi t}{2}}\right]$$
$$= \prod_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{2k+1}{\xi} - \frac{i\theta}{\pi\xi} + 1\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{2k+1}{\xi} - \frac{i\theta}{\pi\xi}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{2k}{\xi} + \frac{i\theta}{\pi\xi} + 1\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{2k+2}{\xi} + \frac{i\theta}{\pi\xi}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{2k}{\xi} - \frac{i\theta}{\pi\xi} + 1\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{2k+2}{\xi} - \frac{i\theta}{\pi\xi}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{2k+1}{\xi} + \frac{i\theta}{\pi\xi}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{2k+1}{\xi} + \frac{i\theta}{\pi\xi} + 1\right)},$$
(5)

and

$$S_{s\bar{s}}^{s\bar{s}}(\theta) = S_{\bar{s}\bar{s}}^{\bar{s}s}(\theta) = \frac{\sinh\frac{\theta}{\xi}}{\sinh\frac{i\pi-\theta}{\xi}} S_{ss}^{ss}(\theta), \qquad S_{\bar{s}\bar{s}}^{s\bar{s}}(\theta) = S_{s\bar{s}}^{\bar{s}s}(\theta) = \frac{\sinh\frac{i\pi}{\xi}}{\sinh\frac{i\pi-\theta}{\xi}} S_{ss}^{ss}(\theta), \qquad (6)$$

where $S^{s\bar{s}}_{\bar{s}s}(\theta)$ and $S^{\bar{s}s}_{s\bar{s}}(\theta)$ are the off-diagonal amplitudes. Useful linear combinations are

$$S_{+}(\theta) = S_{s\bar{s}}^{s\bar{s}}(\theta) + S_{\bar{s}s}^{s\bar{s}}(\theta) \qquad S_{-}(\theta) = S_{s\bar{s}}^{s\bar{s}}(\theta) - S_{\bar{s}s}^{s\bar{s}}(\theta).$$
(7)

The remaining S-matrices are diagonal and can be expressed in terms of the standard blocks:

$$[x]_{\theta} = \frac{\tanh\frac{1}{2}\left(\theta + i\pi x\right)}{\tanh\frac{1}{2}\left(\theta - i\pi x\right)}.$$
(8)

For instance

$$S_{sb_1}(\theta) = \left[\frac{1+\xi}{2}\right]_{\theta}, \quad S_{b_1b_1}(\theta) = [\xi]_{\theta}, \quad S_{b_2b_2}(\theta) = [\xi]_{\theta}^2 [2\xi]_{\theta}, \tag{9}$$

$$S_{b_1b_3}(\theta) = [\xi]_{\theta} [2\xi]_{\theta}, \quad S_{b_1b_2}(\theta) = \left[\frac{\xi}{2}\right]_{\theta} \left[\frac{3\xi}{2}\right]_{\theta}.$$
 (10)

An important property of these *S*-matrices is that they have poles in the physical sheet which can be attributed to the presence of a bound state. The residue of such poles plays a role in later sections and so we report some of these results here. In general, we define

$$-i\underset{\theta=i\pi u_{ab}^{c}}{\operatorname{Res}}S_{ab}(\theta) := (\Gamma_{ab}^{c})^{2},$$
(11)

where $i\pi u_{ab}^c$ is the pole of the *S*-matrix corresponding to the formation of a bound state *c* in the scattering process $a + b \mapsto c$. This equation provides a definition of the "pole strength" Γ_{ab}^c . For the *S*-matrices above we have for instance,

$$\Gamma_{s\bar{s}}^{b_1} = \sqrt{2\cot\frac{\pi\xi}{2}},$$

$$\Gamma_{s\bar{s}}^{b_2} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{4}\sin 2\pi\xi} \csc^2\frac{\pi\xi}{2},$$

$$\Gamma_{s\bar{s}}^{b_3} = \sqrt{2\cot\frac{3\pi\xi}{2}}\cot\frac{\pi\xi}{2}\cot\pi\xi,$$

$$\Gamma_{s\bar{s}}^{b_4} = \sqrt{2\cot2\pi\xi}\cot\frac{\pi\xi}{2}\cot\pi\xi\cot\frac{3\pi\xi}{2},$$
(12)

which can be obtained using the infinite product representation (5). The above quantities are associated with the pole strengths of $S_{s\bar{s}}^{s\bar{s}}(\theta)$ and $S_{ss}^{ss}(\theta)$ for the first few breathers and the

position of the poles are at $i\pi\xi k$ with $k = 1, ..., \ell(\xi)$ as defined in (3) and assuming we are in the attractive regime. For the breather *S*-matrices, we have

$$\Gamma_{b_1b_1}^{b_2} = \sqrt{2\tan\pi\xi}, \ \ \Gamma_{b_2b_2}^{b_4} = \frac{2\cos\pi\xi + 1}{2\cos\pi\xi - 1}\sqrt{2\tan2\pi\xi}, \ \ \Gamma_{b_1b_2}^{b_3} = \sqrt{\frac{2\cos\pi\xi + 1}{2\cos\pi\xi - 1}}\,\Gamma_{b_1b_1}^{b_2}, \ \ (13)$$

and $\Gamma_{b_1b_3}^{b_4} = \Gamma_{b_2b_2}^{b_4}/\Gamma_{b_1b_2}^{b_3}$. Note that, as mentioned earlier, $S_{b_1b_1}(\theta)$ coincides with the sinh-Gordon S-matrix under the replacement $B = -2\xi$, where B is the sinh-Gordon coupling constant [33, 34]. More generally, the following integral formulae hold

$$S_{sb_k}(\theta) = (-1)^k \exp\left[-i \int_0^\infty \frac{dt}{t} \frac{2\cosh\frac{\pi t\xi}{2} \sinh\frac{\pi t\xi\xi}{2} \sin(t\theta)}{\sinh\frac{\pi\xi t}{2}\cosh\frac{\pi t}{2}}\right],\tag{14}$$

$$S_{b_k b_p}(\theta) = \exp\left[-i \int_0^\infty \frac{dt}{t} \frac{4\cosh\frac{\pi t\xi}{2} \sinh\frac{\pi tk\xi}{2} \cosh\frac{\pi t(1-\xi p)}{2} \sin(t\theta)}{\sinh\frac{\pi\xi t}{2} \cosh\frac{\pi t}{2}}\right],\qquad(15)$$

for k < p and, finally

$$S_{b_k b_k}(\theta) = -\exp\left[-i\int_0^\infty \frac{dt}{t} \frac{2\left[\cosh\frac{\pi t\xi}{2}\sinh\frac{\pi t(2k\xi-1)}{2} + \sinh\frac{(1-\xi)\pi t}{2}\right]\sin(t\theta)}{\sinh\frac{\pi\xi t}{2}\cosh\frac{\pi t}{2}}\right].$$
 (16)

A good summary of all the *S*-matrices, and of how to derive Gamma-function representations from integral representations can be found for instance in [4].

3 Branch Point Twist Fields in a Nutshell

It has been known for some time that several entanglement measures, including the Rényi entropies, can be expressed in terms of correlation functions of a special class of local fields \mathcal{T} which have been termed branch point twist fields in [27]. Branch point twist fields are, on the one hand, twist fields in the broader sense, that is, fields associated with an internal symmetry of the theory under consideration [27], and on the other hand related to branch points of multi-sheeted Riemann surfaces [35]. They are twist fields associated to the cyclic permutation symmetry of a model composed of *n* copies or "replicas" of a given theory, characterized by the exchange relations

$$\mathcal{T}(x)\mathcal{O}_i(y) = \mathcal{O}_{i+1}(y)\mathcal{T}(x) \quad \text{for} \quad y^1 > x^1, \tag{17}$$

$$= \mathcal{O}_i(y)\mathcal{T}(x) \quad \text{for} \quad x^1 > y^1, \tag{18}$$

where $\mathcal{O}_i(y)$ is any local field on copy number *i*, and with $\mathcal{O}_{n+1}(y) = \mathcal{O}_1(y)$.

The idea of quantum fields associated with branch points of Riemann surfaces in the context of entanglement appeared first in [35]. The general picture of branch point twist fields as symmetry fields associated to cyclic permutation symmetry of the *n* Riemann surface's sheets, as per (17), was given in [27], where they were studied in massive IQFT. This description is however independent of integrability, and it was first used in massive QFT outside of integrability in [36].

Cyclic permutation symmetry is not naturally present in most IQFTs, but can be "manufactured" by considering a replica model, composed of *n* copies of the original QFT (e.g. the sine-Gordon model). The connection to replica theories and multi-sheeted Riemann surfaces arises from the explicit formulae for entanglement measures, which generally depend on the quantity $\text{Tr}_A(\rho_A^n)$

where ρ_A is the reduced density matrix associated to a particular region *A* of the system. It is possible to show that the quantity $\text{Tr}_A(\rho_A^n)$ is proportional to a correlation function of branch point twist fields involving as many twist field insertions as boundary points between the region *A* and the rest of the system. We will see an application of these ideas in Section 7 where we discuss the application of our results to the computation of the entanglement dynamics.

3.1 Form Factors and Form Factor Equations

Starting with the exchange relations (17), in IQFT one can formulate twist field form factor equations which generalize the standard form factor program for local fields [3, 37]. These equations were first given in [27] for diagonal theories and then in [30] for non-diagonal ones. They have been generalized to symmetry resolved branch point twist fields in [28, 29]. We will not review all these equations and their properties here but only those relations that are repeateadly used in the current paper, in particular the equations for one- and two-particle form factors. Let us start by defining

$$F_{a_1\dots a_k}(\theta_1,\dots,\theta_k;\xi,n) := {}_n \langle 0|\mathcal{T}(0)|\theta_1,\dots,\theta_k \rangle_{a_1\dots a_k;n},$$
(19)

to be a *k*-particle form factor, that is, a matrix element of the field between the vacuum state and a *k*-particle state. Here $_n\langle 0|$ represents the vacuum state and $|\theta_1, \dots, \theta_k\rangle_{a_1\dots a_k;n}$ represents an in-state of *k* particles with rapidities $\theta_1, \dots, \theta_k$ and quantum numbers $a_1 \dots a_k$, both in the replica model. These quantum numbers generally contain two indices, one for the particle type and one for the copy number. However, in our computations we will generally restrict ourselves to a single copy and will therefore drop the copy index. This is because form factors of other copies can be obtained from these solutions by repeated use of the form factor equations.

The branch point twist field is a neutral field in relation to the sine-Gordon U(1)-symmetry that exchanges soliton and anti-soliton. This implies the vanishing of any twist-field form factors involving a different number of solitons and anti-solitons. At the one and two-particle level this means that

$$F_{ss}(\theta;\xi,n) = F_{\bar{s}\bar{s}}(\theta;\xi,n) = F_{\bar{s}b_k}(\theta,\xi;n) = F_{sb_k}(\theta,\xi;n) = F_s(\xi,n) = F_{\bar{s}}(\xi,n) = 0, \forall k \in \mathbb{Z}^+.$$
(20)

Here, we have used relativistic invariance and spinlessness of the twist field, which imply that the two-particle form factor depends on a single rapidity variable (the rapidity difference of the particles) and the one-particle form factor is rapidity independent. In addition, because of \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry we also have

$$F_{b_{2k}b_{2p-1}}(\theta;\xi,n) = F_{b_{2k-1}}(\xi,n) = 0. \quad \forall \quad k,p \in \mathbb{Z}^+.$$
(21)

Under these considerations, Watson's equations for non-vanishing two-particle form factors and particles in the same copy can be summarized as

$$F_{s\bar{s}}(\theta;\xi,n) = S_{+}(\theta)F_{s\bar{s}}(-\theta;\xi,n) = F_{s\bar{s}}(2\pi i n - \theta;\xi,n), \qquad (22)$$

$$F_{b_{i}b_{j}}(\theta;\xi,n) = S_{b_{i}b_{j}}(\theta)F_{b_{i}b_{j}}(-\theta;\xi,n) = F_{b_{i}b_{j}}(2\pi i n - \theta;\xi,n), \text{ for } i - j \in 2\mathbb{Z}, (23)$$

whereas the kinematic residue equations are

$$-i\operatorname{Res}_{\theta=i\pi}F_{s\bar{s}}(\theta;\xi,n) = -i\operatorname{Res}_{\theta=i\pi}F_{b_ib_i}(\theta;\xi,n) = \langle \mathcal{T} \rangle \quad \forall \quad i \in \mathbb{N},$$
(24)

where $\langle T \rangle$ is the vacuum expectation value of the branch point twist field in the ground state of the replica theory. Finally, the bound state residue equations are

$$-i\underset{\theta=i\pi u_{s\bar{s}}^{c}}{\operatorname{Res}}F_{s\bar{s}}(\theta;\xi,n) = \Gamma_{s\bar{s}}^{c}F_{c}(\xi;n), \qquad (25)$$

where *c* is any particle that is formed as a bound state of $s + \bar{s}$ for rapidity difference $\theta = i\pi u_{s\bar{s}}^c$. In the breather sector we will use the bound state residue equation extensively and repeatedly to obtain lower particle form factors of heavier breathers in a process known as "fusion". For this reason it is convenient to write the more general equation

$$-i\operatorname{Res}_{\theta=\theta_0}F_{b_ib_ja_1\dots a_k}(\theta+iu,\theta_0-i\tilde{u},\theta_1\cdots,\theta_k;\xi,n) = \Gamma_{b_ib_j}^{b_{i+j}}F_{b_{i+j}a_1\dots a_k}(\theta,\theta_1\cdots,\theta_k;\xi,n), \quad (26)$$

where a_1, \ldots, a_k are any particle combination for which the form factor is non-vanishing and $u + \tilde{u} = u_{ij}^{i+j}$ where $\theta = i\pi u_{ij}^{i+j}$ is the pole of the scattering matrix $S_{b_i b_j}(\theta)$ corresponding to the formation of breather b_{i+j} . Similarly, u and \tilde{u} are related to the poles of $S_{b_j b_{i+j}}(\theta)$ and $S_{b_i b_{i+j}}(\theta)$.

4 Soliton-Antisoliton Form Factors

In the following we summarise the necessary formulas for the two-particle soliton-antisoliton form factors of the branch point twist field. Although these quantities were already derived in [30], the formulas were strictly speaking only justified in the repulsive regime of the sine-Gordon model. As we show below they are, nevertheless, valid in the attractive regime as well once a proper analytic continuation in the parameter ξ is considered. Let us first discuss the minimal form factor of these objects, which we denote by $G(\theta; \xi, n)$. This is the "minimal solution" to using Eq. (22) which can be constructed in the manner shown in [27], which itself generalizes a standard method in the context of the form factor program (see e.g. [38]). This method takes as starting point the *S*-matrix involved in the middle identity ($S_+(\theta)$ in the present case) of (22) and assumes that it admits a representation of the type

$$S(\theta) = \exp\left[\int_0^\infty \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} g(t) \sinh\frac{t\theta}{i\pi}\right],\tag{27}$$

for some function g(t). If such a representation exists, then a minimal solution the equation (22) is given by

$$f(\theta) = \mathcal{N} \exp\left[\int_0^\infty \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \frac{g(t)}{\sinh nt} \sin^2\left(\frac{itn}{2}\left(1 + \frac{i\theta}{\pi}\right)\right)\right],\tag{28}$$

where \mathcal{N} is a normalization constant. To obtain the minimal form factor $G(\theta; \xi, n)$ of interest, we therefore need to write S_+ in the form (27). This is straightforward since

$$S_{+}(\theta) = \left(\frac{\sinh\frac{\theta}{\xi}}{\sinh\frac{i\pi-\theta}{\xi}} + \frac{\sinh\frac{i\pi}{\xi}}{\sinh\frac{i\pi-\theta}{\xi}}\right) S_{ss}^{ss}(\theta) := s(\theta)S_{ss}^{ss}(\theta),$$
(29)

with

$$s(\theta) := \frac{\sin \frac{\pi - i\theta}{2\xi}}{\sin \frac{\pi + i\theta}{2\xi}}.$$
(30)

The function $S_{ss}^{ss}(\theta)$ already has an exponential representation (5) and one can easily write a similar representation for the function $s(\theta)$ as well

$$s(\theta) = \exp\left[-2\int_0^\infty \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \frac{\sinh\left((\xi - 1)t\right)\sinh\frac{it\theta}{\pi}}{\sinh\xi t}\right].$$
(31)

An important remark is that the integral (5) is convergent for any $0 < \xi < 1$. Nevertheless (31) is only convergent for $\frac{1}{2} < \xi < 1$. To be precise, for other values of ξ an alternative representation of the function above has to be used given by

$$s(\theta) = \exp\left[2\int_0^\infty \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \frac{\sinh\left(\left((2p+1)\xi - 1\right)t\right)\sinh\frac{t\theta}{i\pi}}{\sinh\xi t}\right], \quad \text{for} \quad \frac{1}{2p} \ge \xi > \frac{1}{2p+2}, \quad (32)$$

with $p \in \mathbb{Z}^+$. Thus, we have two different representations of the minimal form factor $G(\theta; \xi, n)$ depending on whether or not $\xi - \frac{1}{2} > 0$ or $\xi - \frac{1}{2} \leq 0$ which we denote by $G_{\pm}(\theta; \xi, n)$, respectively. Interestingly, the value $\xi = \frac{1}{2}$ is precisely the threshold for the formation of breathers and this is no coincidence. From the symmetry arguments presented in subsection 3.1 we know that the branch point twist field has vanishing one-particle form factors for odd-indexed breathers. However, the presence of non-zero one-particle breather form factors for even indices is allowed as we show later. This means that the two-particle soliton-antisoliton form factor of the branch-point twist field must have bound state poles at imaginary rapidity values $\theta = i\pi(1 - 2k\xi)$ for $k = 1, \ldots, [\frac{1}{2\xi}]$. Equivalently, we can formulate this statement as the dynamical pole axiom (25) which we now specialise to even breather bound states

$$-i \operatorname{Res}_{\theta = i\pi(1-2k\xi)} F_{s\bar{s}}(\theta;\xi,n) = \Gamma_{s\bar{s}}^{b_{2k}} F_{b_{2k}}(\xi,n).$$
(33)

Notice that each new representation of $s(\theta)$ from (32), corresponds to a new breather with an even index entering the spectrum of the theory.

Thus, when writing down the minimal part of $F_{s\bar{s}}(\theta;\xi,n)$ we have two alternative representations: if we employ the *S*-matrix representation (32) together with (5) and apply the standard machinery (28) to obtain the minimal form factor, the result possesses no breather bound state poles. This feature, is generally what is meant by "minimal solution". In this case the dynamical pole equation (33) can only be satisfied by multiplying the minimal form factor with another function which incorporates the required poles, similarly as for kinematic poles [27]. On the other hand, if one uses the analytically continued solution (31) instead of (32), the dynamical pole axiom (33) is automatically satisfied by the minimal form factor. In other words, this form factor is no-longer "minimal" in the standard sense, but includes also poles in the physical sheet corresponding to bound states.

Let us now continue our derivation for the minimal form factor, where the above discussed features can be explicitly demonstrated. The minimal form factor can be written as

$$G(\theta;\xi,n) = \varphi(\theta;\xi,n)\Phi(\theta;\xi,n), \qquad (34)$$

where the function $\Phi(\theta; \xi, n)$ follows from the integral representation of $S_{ss}^{ss}(\theta)$ and can be written as

$$\Phi(\theta;\xi,n) = -i\sinh\frac{\theta}{2n}\exp\left[\int_0^\infty \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t}\frac{\sinh\left(\frac{1}{2}(\xi-1)t\right)\sinh^2\left(\frac{t}{2}\left(n-\frac{\theta}{i\pi}\right)\right)}{\cosh\frac{t}{2}\sinh\frac{\xi t}{2}\sinh nt}\right],\qquad(35)$$

or, alternatively, as an infinite product of Gamma functions:

$$\Phi(\theta;\xi,n) = -i\sinh\frac{\theta}{2n}\prod_{k,p=0}^{\infty} \left[\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{p+n+(k+1)\xi}{2n}\right)^2\Gamma\left(1+\frac{\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+p+1+k\xi}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{-\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+p+1+k\xi}{2n}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{p+n+k\xi+1}{2n}\right)^2\Gamma\left(1+\frac{\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+p+(k+1)\xi}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{-\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+p+(k+1)\xi}{2n}\right)}\right]^{(-1)^p}$$
(36)

However, from a numerical viewpoint, the most useful representation is mixed, combining both a finite product of Gamma-fuctions and an integral part. This representation (86) is given in Appendix A. This kind of mixed representation was first used in [25] and is very rapidly convergent.

The function $\varphi(\theta; \xi, n)$ in (34) follows from either the representation (31) valid for $\xi > \frac{1}{2}$

$$\varphi_{+}(\theta;\xi,n) = \exp\left[-2\int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \frac{\sinh\left((\xi-1)t\right)\sinh^{2}\left(\frac{t}{2}\left(n-\frac{\theta}{i\pi}\right)\right)}{\sinh(nt)\sinh(\xi t)}\right]$$
$$= \prod_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{n+2k\xi+1}{2n}\right)^{2}\Gamma\left(\frac{-\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+2\xi(k+1)-1}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+2\xi(k+1)-1}{2n}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{n+2\xi(k+1)-1}{2n}\right)^{2}\Gamma\left(\frac{-\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+2k\xi+1}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+2k\xi+1}{2n}\right)},$$
(37)

or from (32), which is instead valid for $\frac{1}{2p} \ge \xi > \frac{1}{2p+2}$ and $p \in \mathbb{Z}^+$

$$\varphi_{-}(\theta;\xi,n) = \exp\left[-2\int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{dt}{t} \frac{\sinh\left(((2p+1)\xi-1)t\right)\sinh^{2}\left(\frac{t}{2}\left(n-\frac{\theta}{i\pi}\right)\right)}{\sinh(nt)\sinh(\xi t)}\right] \\ = \prod_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{n+2(k-p)\xi+1}{2n}\right)^{2}\Gamma\left(\frac{-\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+2(k+p+1)\xi-1}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+2(k+p+1)\xi-1}{2n}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{n+2(k+p+1)\xi-1}{2n}\right)^{2}\Gamma\left(\frac{-\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+2(k-p)\xi+1}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+2(k-p)\xi+1}{2n}\right)}.$$
(38)

As before, we can also write a mixed representations (see Eq. (87) and (88)). Similar to the discussion following (31)-(31), the minimal form factors

$$G_{\pm}(\theta;\xi,n) = \varphi_{\pm}(\theta;\xi,n)\Phi(\theta;\xi,n), \qquad (39)$$

are two representations both satisfy Eq. (22), but whereas $G_+(\theta;\xi,n)$ includes bound state poles at $\theta = i\pi(1-2k\xi)$ for $k = 1, \dots, [\frac{1}{2\xi}], G_-(\theta;\xi,n)$ does not. Instead the necessary bound state poles can be introduced by simply dividing $G_-(\theta;\xi,n)$ by standard CDD factors of the type

$$\prod_{k=1}^{\left\lfloor \frac{1}{2\xi} \right\rfloor} \left(\cosh \frac{\theta}{n} - \cos \frac{\pi (1 - 2k\xi)}{n} \right).$$
(40)

A rigorous demonstration of this fact is presented in Appendix D. In this Appendix, the fulfilment of (25) with our soliton and breather form factors is proven as well, and we also derive some identities involving fractions of the minimal soliton-antisoliton form factors $G_{\pm}(\theta; \xi, n)$ and breather form factor $R(\theta; \xi, n)$ (derived in the next section) based on (25).

Now that we have found a minimal form factor that incorporates also the bound state poles, we just need to introduce the kinematic pole that ensures our solution satisfies (24). This kinematic pole can be introduced by multiplying with a function already presented in [27]. The final formulae for particles on the same copy are

$$F_{s\bar{s}}(\theta;\xi,n) = \frac{\langle \mathcal{T} \rangle \sin\frac{\pi}{n}}{2n \sinh\frac{i\pi-\theta}{2n} \sinh\frac{i\pi+\theta}{2n}} \frac{G_{+}(\theta;\xi,n)}{G_{+}(i\pi;\xi,n)}$$

$$= \frac{\langle \mathcal{T} \rangle \sin\frac{\pi}{n}}{2n \sinh\frac{i\pi-\theta}{2n} \sinh\frac{i\pi+\theta}{2n}} \left[\prod_{k=1}^{\left[\frac{1}{2\xi}\right]} \frac{\cos\frac{\pi}{n} - \cos\frac{\pi(1-2k\xi)}{n}}{\cosh\frac{\theta}{n} - \cos\frac{\pi(1-2k\xi)}{n}} \right] \frac{G_{-}(\theta;\xi,n)}{G_{-}(i\pi;\xi,n)}.$$
(41)

We stress again that the two formulas are completely identical on the physical sheet and that the first line is the same expression derived for the repulsive regime in [27].

5 Breather Form Factors

In this section we focus on the breather sector of the theory, where the *S*-matrices are diagonal. The form factors

$$F_{b_1b_1}(\theta;\xi,n), \qquad F_{b_1b_1b_1b_1}(\theta_1,\theta_2,\theta_3,\theta_4;\xi,n),$$
(42)

can be easily obtained from known results for the sinh-Gordon model under the replacement $B = -2\xi$. With this identification one can then take the form factor solutions found in [27,31] and employ fusion to construct the chains of form factors

$$F_{b_1b_1b_1b_1}(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3, \theta_4; \xi, n) \mapsto F_{b_2b_1b_1}(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3; \xi, n)$$
$$\mapsto F_{b_2b_2}(\theta; \xi, n) \text{ or } F_{b_3b_1}(\theta; \xi, n) \mapsto F_{b_4}(\xi, n), \quad (43)$$

and

$$F_{b_1b_1}(\theta;\xi,n) \mapsto F_{b_2}(\xi,n). \tag{44}$$

A nice example of this approach was given in Appendix A of [39] for the form factors of exponential fields.

5.1 Minimal Form Factor and Form Factors of b₁

Although we take the sinh-Gordon solutions as starting point, it is still useful to say a few words about the basic structure of those solutions, specially the minimal form factor. This function provides a minimal solution to the equations (23) for i = j = 1 and two breathers in the same copy. It can be easily adapted from the solutions presented in various papers [4, 12, 23–25] and the techniques for the computation of minimal form factors introduced in [27]. The generalization to branch point twist fields of the representation given in [12] takes the form

$$R(\theta;\xi,n) = \exp\left[2\int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{dt}{t} \frac{\sinh\frac{\xi t}{2}\sinh\frac{t(1+\xi)}{2}\cosh\left(t\left(n+\frac{i\theta}{\pi}\right)\right)}{\cosh\frac{t}{2}\sinh(nt)}\right]$$
$$= \prod_{k=0}^{\infty}\left[\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{-i\theta}{\pi}-\xi+k\right)}{2n}\Gamma\left(1+\frac{i\theta}{\pi}-\xi+k\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{-i\theta}{2n}\right)}\Gamma\left(1+\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+k+1\right)}\Gamma\left(1+\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+k+1\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{-i\theta}{2n}+k\right)}\Gamma\left(1+\frac{i\theta}{2n}\right)}\Gamma\left(1+\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+k+1\right)}\right]^{(-1)^{k}} (45)$$

This function has the useful properties:

$$\lim_{\theta \to \infty} R(\theta; \xi, n) = 1 \quad \text{and} \quad R(0; \xi, n) = 0.$$
(46)

A similar discussion as presented in the previous section also applies to this solution. First, although $R(\theta; \xi, n)$ is constructed from the sinh-Gordon minimal form factor, it has very different analytic properties. Indeed, once more $R(\theta; \xi, n)$ is not minimal, in the strictest sense of having no poles in the physical sheet. $R(\theta; \xi, n)$ does have poles in the physical sheet, when the coupling allows for the the first breather to form higher breather bound states. Therefore, the solution (47) is valid for all values of the coupling ξ , with the function $R(\theta; \xi, n)$ introducing

bound state poles as needed. Second, the formula is once more only convergent for $\xi > \frac{1}{2}$ and this can be numerically addressed by employing the mixed representation (89).

The full two-particle form factor is then given by

$$F_{b_1b_1}(\theta;\xi,n) = \frac{\langle \mathcal{T} \rangle \sin\frac{\pi}{n}}{2n \sinh\frac{i\pi-\theta}{2n} \sinh\frac{i\pi+\theta}{2n}} \frac{R(\theta;\xi,n)}{R(i\pi;\xi,n)}.$$
(47)

The four-particle form factor can be read off from [31] and takes the form

$$F_{b_1b_1b_1b_1}(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3, \theta_4; \xi, n) = H(\xi, n)Q(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4; \xi, n) \prod_{1 \le i < j \le 4} \frac{R(\theta_i - \theta_j; \xi, n)}{(x_i - \omega x_j)(x_j - \omega x_i)},$$
(48)

with

$$H(\xi,n) = \langle \mathcal{T} \rangle \frac{4\omega^6 \sin^2 \frac{\pi}{n}}{n^2 R(i\pi;\xi,n)^2}, \qquad x_i = e^{\frac{\theta_i}{n}}, \qquad \omega = e^{\frac{i\pi}{n}}, \tag{49}$$

and

$$Q(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4; \xi, n) = \sigma_4 \left[\sigma_2^4 + q_1(\xi, n) \sigma_2(\sigma_3^2 + \sigma_1^2 \sigma_4) + q_2(\xi, n) \sigma_1 \sigma_2^2 \sigma_3 + q_3(\xi, n) \sigma_1^2 \sigma_3^2 \right]$$

$$q_4(\xi, n) \sigma_2^2 \sigma_4 + q_5(\xi, n) \sigma_1 \sigma_3 \sigma_4 + q_6(\xi, n) \sigma_4^2 \left] .$$
(50)

Here σ_i are the elementary symmetric polynomials on variables $\{x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4\}$ and the coefficients $q_i(\xi, n)$ where given in the Appendix of [31] (which unfortunately contains a typo). Calling

$$c(a) := \cos \frac{\pi a}{2n},\tag{51}$$

they can be rewritten as

$$\begin{split} q_{1}(\xi,n) &= c(1)^{-1} \left(1 + 2c(2)\right) (c(3) - c(1 + 2\xi)), \\ q_{2}(\xi,n) &= -c(1)^{-1} \left(c(2\xi + 1) + 4c(1) + c(3)\right), \\ q_{3}(\xi,n) &= 2c(2(1+\xi)) + 2c(2\xi) + 2c(2) + 3, \\ q_{4}(\xi,n) &= 2\left(3c(2\xi) + 3c(2(1+\xi)) + c(2(2+\xi)) + c(2(1-\xi)) + c(2(1+2\xi))\right) \\ &\quad + 3c(2) - c(4) + 1\right), \\ q_{5}(\xi,n) &= -2\left(6 + 6c(2) + 4c(4) + c(6) + c(2(2-\xi)) + 5c(2\xi) + c(4\xi) + 5c(2(1+\xi))\right) \\ &\quad + c(4(1+\xi)) + 2c(2(2+\xi)) + c(2(3+\xi)) + 2c(2(1-\xi)) + c(2(1+2\xi))), \\ q_{6}(\xi,n) &= 8c(2)^{2}(3 + 3c(2) - c(4) + 3c(2\xi) + 3c(2(1+\xi)) + c(4(1+\xi)) + c(2(2+\xi))) \\ &\quad + c(2(1-\xi)) + c(2(1+2\xi)). \end{split}$$

5.2 Fusion Procedure

In this section we present the results of the fusion procedure as described schematically in (43). The simplest form factor to be obtained from the bootstrap approach outlined before is $F_{b_2}(\xi, n)$. The breather b_2 is a bound state of two b_1 breathers corresponding to the simple pole of $S_{b_1b_2}(\theta)$ at $\theta = i\pi\xi$. The bound state residue equation simply tells us that

$$-i \operatorname{Res}_{\theta=i\pi\xi} F_{b_1b_1}(\theta;\xi,n) = \Gamma_{b_1b_1}^{b_2} F_{b_2}(\xi,n).$$
(53)

We also know that the minimal form factor $R(\theta; \xi, n)$ satisfies the equation

$$R(\theta;\xi,n) = S_{b_1b_1}(\theta)R(-\theta;\xi,n), \qquad (54)$$



Figure 1: Left: The one-particle form factor $F_{b_2}(\xi, n)$ as a function of n for $\xi = 0.4$ (pink), 0.3 (blue), 0.2 (green), 0.1 (red), 0.05 (brown) and 0.005 (black). Right: The one-particle form factor $F_{b_2}(\xi, n)$ as a function of ξ for n = 2 (red), 5 (blue), 12 (green), 50 (magenta).

and so, at the pole we have that

$$-i\mathop{\rm Res}_{\theta=i\pi\xi}R(\theta;\xi,n) = -i\mathop{\rm Res}_{\theta=i\pi\xi}S_{b_1b_1}(\theta)R(-\theta;\xi,n) = (\Gamma^{b_2}_{b_1b_1})^2R(-i\pi\xi;\xi,n).$$
(55)

Putting all factors together, this gives the formula

$$F_{b_2}(\xi,n) = \frac{\langle \mathcal{T} \rangle \sin\frac{\pi}{n} \sqrt{2} \tan \pi \overline{\xi}}{2n \sinh\frac{i\pi(1-\xi)}{2n} \sinh\frac{i\pi(1+\xi)}{2n}} \frac{R(-i\pi\xi;\xi,n)}{R(i\pi;\xi,n)}.$$
(56)

For $n \rightarrow 1$ the form factor vanishes as expected (since the twist field becomes the identity if the replica number is 1). However the limit

$$\lim_{n \to 1} \frac{F_{b_2}(\xi, n)}{1 - n} = \frac{\pi \sqrt{\tan \pi \xi}}{\sqrt{2} \cos^2 \frac{\pi \xi}{2}} \frac{R(-i\pi\xi; \xi, 1)}{R(i\pi; \xi, 1)},$$
(57)

is non-zero. This limit plays a role in computations of the von Neumann entropy.

Note that the breather b_2 is only present for $\xi < \frac{1}{2}$. Fig. 1 shows the function (56) for several choices of ξ and n.

5.2.1 Higher Breather Form Factors

Let us now consider a more involved fusion-based computation, namely that giving the form factor $F_{b_2b_1b_1}(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3; \xi, n)$ from the four-particle form factor (48). The key equation in this case is

$$-i\operatorname{Res}_{\theta=\theta_1}F_{b_1b_1b_1b_1}(\theta+\frac{i\pi\xi}{2},\theta_1-\frac{i\pi\xi}{2},\theta_2,\theta_3;\xi,n) = \Gamma_{b_1b_1}^{b_2}F_{b_2b_1b_1}(\theta_1,\theta_2,\theta_3;\xi,n).$$
(58)

Considering the formula (48) we see once more that the pole will originate from of the *R*-factors in the product, giving the contribution (55). More precisely, we obtain a solution of the form

$$F_{b_{2}b_{1}b_{1}}(\theta_{1},\theta_{2},\theta_{3};\xi,n) = H_{211}(\xi,n)Q_{211}(x_{1},x_{2},x_{3};\xi,n)$$

$$\times \frac{R(\theta_{23};\xi,n)R(\theta_{12} + \frac{i\pi\xi}{2};\xi,n)R(\theta_{13} + \frac{i\pi\xi}{2};\xi,n)R(\theta_{12} - \frac{i\pi\xi}{2};\xi,n)R(\theta_{13} - \frac{i\pi\xi}{2};\xi,n)}{(x_{2} - \omega x_{3})(x_{3} - \omega x_{2})(x_{1} - x_{2}\omega\sqrt{\beta})(x_{2} - x_{1}\omega\sqrt{\beta})(x_{1} - x_{3}\omega\sqrt{\beta})(x_{3} - x_{1}\omega\sqrt{\beta})}, (59)$$

where $\beta = e^{-\frac{i\pi\xi}{n}}$ and $Q_{211}(x_1, x_2, x_3; \xi, n)$ is obtained from evaluating $Q(x_1\beta^{-\frac{1}{2}}, x_1\beta^{\frac{1}{2}}, x_2, x_3)$ which simplifies with part of the denominator of (48) giving

$$Q_{211}(x_1, x_2, x_3; \xi, n) = \sigma_2 \left[(\sigma_2^2 + \hat{\sigma}_1^2 \sigma_1^2 + \hat{\sigma}_1^4) c(1) + 2\sigma_2 \hat{\sigma}_1^2 c(\xi) c(\xi - 5) - 2\sigma_1 \hat{\sigma}_1 (\sigma_2 + \hat{\sigma}_1^2) c(\xi + 2) c(2\xi - 1) + 2\sigma_2 \hat{\sigma}_1^2 (c(1) c(2(\xi + 2)) - c(\xi) c(3\xi + 1)) + 2(\sigma_1^2 - \sigma_2) \hat{\sigma}_1^2 c(\xi) (c(3\xi - 1) - c(3 - \xi)) \right],$$
(60)

and $\sigma_1 = x_2 + x_3, \sigma_2 = x_2 x_3$ and $\hat{\sigma}_1 = x_1$. As for the constant, we obtain

$$H_{211}(\xi,n) = \langle \mathcal{T} \rangle \frac{2\omega^3 \beta \sin\frac{\pi}{2n} \sin\frac{\pi}{n} \Gamma_{b_1 b_1}^{b_2}}{n^2 \sin\frac{\pi(\xi+1)}{2n} \sin\frac{\pi(\xi-1)}{2n}} \frac{R(-i\pi\xi;\xi,n)}{R(i\pi;\xi,n)^2} = \frac{4\omega^3 \beta \sin\frac{\pi}{2n} F_{b_2}(\xi,n)}{nR(i\pi;\xi,n)}.$$
 (61)

Having now seen two applications of the fusion procedure it is easy to proceed for other form factors. We present more details of those computations in Appendix B. Here we just summarize the main formulae:

$$F_{b_{3}b_{1}}(\theta_{12};\xi,n) = H_{31}(\xi,n)Q_{31}(x_{1},x_{2};\xi,n)\frac{R(\theta_{12};\xi,n)R(\theta_{12}+i\pi\xi;\xi,n)R(\theta_{12}-i\pi\xi;\xi,n)}{(x_{1}-x_{2}\omega\beta)(x_{2}-x_{1}\omega\beta)(x_{1}\alpha-x_{2})(x_{2}\alpha-x_{1}\beta)},$$
(62)

with $H_{31}(\xi, n)$ and $Q_{31}(x_1, x_2; \xi, n)$ given in (93), (92), respectively.

$$F_{b_2b_2}(\theta_{12};\xi,n) = H_{22}(\xi,n)Q_{22}(x_1,x_2;\xi,n)\frac{R(\theta_{12};\xi,n)^2R(\theta_{12}+i\pi\xi;\xi,n)R(\theta_{12}-i\pi\xi;\xi,n)}{(x_1-\alpha x_2)(x_2-\alpha x_1)(x_1-\alpha\beta x_2)(x_2-\alpha\beta x_1)},$$
(63)

with $H_{22}(\xi, n)$ and $Q_{22}(x_1, x_2; \xi, n)$ given by (104) and (102) and, finally

$$F_{b_{4}}(\xi,n) = \langle \mathcal{T} \rangle \frac{\sin \frac{\pi}{n} \sin \frac{\pi}{2n} (1 + 2\cos \frac{\pi\xi}{n}) \cos \frac{\pi(1-\xi)}{2n} \Gamma_{b_{3}b_{1}}^{b_{4}} \Gamma_{b_{2}b_{1}}^{b_{3}} \Gamma_{b_{1}b_{1}}^{b_{2}}}{2n^{2} \sin^{2} \frac{\pi(1+\xi)}{2n} \sin \frac{\pi(1-2\xi)}{2n} \sin \frac{\pi(1-3\xi)}{2n}} \times \frac{R(-3\pi i\xi;\xi,n)R(-2\pi i\xi;\xi,n)^{2}R(-i\pi\xi;\xi,n)^{3}}{R(i\pi;\xi,n)^{2}},$$
(64)

which, as we see in Appendix B can be obtained from either fusing b_3 and b_1 or b_2 with itself, giving identical results. Before ending this section, it is worth noting that Watson's equations and the bound state residue equation for form factors can be repeatedly used to obtain the form factors of breather b_k starting with a form factor involving k breathers of type b_1 in a more systematic manner. This technique is described for instance in equation (A.3) of Appendix A in [40]. This method would allow us for instance to reduce (48) to (64) by simultaneously fusing all particles. The result is the same as presented here.

5.3 Some Consistency Checks

Apart from the Δ sum rule that we will discuss later, there are a few properties that the form factors must satisfy and which help us make sure these formulae are correct. One of the strongest tests is the clustering decomposition property which states that in the absence of internal symmetries, form factors factorize into products of lower particle number form factors if a subset of the rapidities is sent to infinity. More precisely, for the form factors above we expect that

$$\lim_{\theta \to \infty} F_{b_1 b_3}(\theta; \xi, n) = 0, \qquad \lim_{\theta \to \infty} F_{b_2 b_2}(\theta; \xi, n) = \frac{F_{b_2}(\xi, n)^2}{\langle \mathcal{T} \rangle}, \tag{65}$$

Sci Posi

and

$$\lim_{\theta_{1}\to\infty}F_{b_{2}b_{1}b_{1}}(\theta_{1},\theta_{2},\theta_{3};\xi,n) = \frac{F_{b_{2}}(\xi,n)F_{b_{1}b_{1}}(\theta_{23};\xi,n)}{\langle \mathcal{T} \rangle}, \lim_{\theta_{1},\theta_{2}\to\infty}F_{b_{2}b_{1}b_{1}}(\theta_{1},\theta_{2},\theta_{3};\xi,n) = 0.$$
(66)

These identities can be easily checked thanks to the first property in (46). The first property in (65) follows from observing that for $\theta_1 \to \infty$ the denominator of the form factor (62) scales with x_1^4 whereas the numerator (that is, the function $Q_{31}(x_1, x_2, x_2; \xi, n)$) scales as x_1^3 . A similar argument applies to the second equality in (66). The second identity in (65) follows from

$$\lim_{\theta_1 \to \infty} Q_{22}(x_1, x_2; \xi, n) \sim 2\omega \sqrt{\omega} \beta^2 c(1) x_1^4,$$
(67)

and

$$\lim_{\theta_1 \to \infty} \frac{R(\theta_{12};\xi,n)^2 R(\theta_{12} + i\pi\xi;\xi,n) R(\theta_{12} - i\pi\xi;\xi,n)}{(x_1 - \omega x_2)(x_2 - \omega x_1)(x_1 - \omega\beta x_2)(x_2 - \omega\beta x_1)} \sim \frac{1}{\omega^2 \beta x_1^4}$$
(68)

together with the formula (104). The first identity in (66) follows from

$$\lim_{\theta_1 \to \infty} Q_{211}(x_1, x_2, x_3; \xi, n) \sim c(1) x_1^4 x_2 x_3,$$
(69)

$$\lim_{\theta_{1}\to\infty} \frac{R(\theta_{23};\xi,n)R(\theta_{12}+\frac{i\pi\xi}{2};\xi,n)R(\theta_{13}+\frac{i\pi\xi}{2};\xi,n)R(\theta_{12}-\frac{i\pi\xi}{2};\xi,n)R(\theta_{13}-\frac{i\pi\xi}{2};\xi,n)}{(x_{2}-\omega x_{3})(x_{3}-\omega x_{2})(x_{1}-x_{2}\omega\sqrt{\beta})(x_{2}-x_{1}\omega\sqrt{\beta})(x_{1}-x_{3}\omega\sqrt{\beta})(x_{3}-x_{1}\omega\sqrt{\beta})} \sim \frac{R(\theta_{23};\xi,n)}{\omega^{2}\beta x_{1}^{4}(x_{2}-\omega x_{3})(x_{3}-\omega x_{2})}.$$
(70)

Comparing with (47) and (56) we find that the clustering property is exactly reproduced. We may also check that the solution $F_{b_2b_2}(\theta;\xi,n)$ satisfies the kinematic residue equation (24) which indeed it does. This can be shown by employing the non-trivial identity

$$R(-i\pi\xi;\xi,n)^{2}R(i\pi(1-\xi);\xi,n)R(i\pi(1+\xi);\xi,n) = \frac{n\tan\frac{\pi\xi}{2n}\sin\frac{\pi(1+\xi)}{2n}\sin\frac{\pi(\xi-1)}{2n}}{2\omega^{4}\sin\frac{\pi}{2n}\sin\frac{\pi(1+\xi)}{2n}\tan\pi\xi},$$
 (71)

which can be established with the help of the Γ -function representation given in Appendix A and along similar lines as the proofs presented in Appendix D. We conclude by noting that similar consistency checks for the form factors of local fields in the sine-Gordon model were performed also in [10].

6 Consistency Checks by Δ Sum Rule

The Δ sum rule [41] is one of the most useful and common methods for testing form factor solutions. It gives a relationship between the conformal dimension of a local field \mathcal{T} and a certain integral involving the two point function $_n\langle 0|\mathcal{T}(0)\Theta(r)|0\rangle_n$ where Θ is the trace of the stress-energy tensor and $|0\rangle_n$ is again the vacuum state in the replica theory. In its integrated form given for instance in [42] and after generalizing to branch point twist fields, the rule can be expressed as follows:

$$\Delta_{\mathcal{T}} = -\frac{n}{2\langle \mathcal{T} \rangle} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{a_1 \dots a_k} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\theta_1 \dots d\theta_k}{k! (2\pi)^k} \frac{F_{a_1 \dots a_k}^{\mathcal{T}}(\theta_1, \dots, \theta_k; \xi, n) F_{a_1 \dots a_k}^{\Theta}(\theta_1, \dots, \theta_k; \xi)^*}{\left(\sum_{p=1}^k m_p \cosh \theta_p\right)^2}, \quad (72)$$

Table 1: The contributions to the sum (73) from the soliton-antisoliton term ($s\bar{s}$) and the breather-breather term (b_1b_1) for $\xi = 0.62734$ (left) and $\xi = 0.82734$ (right). The first column shows the exact values of Δ_T and the last column the sum of $s\bar{s}$ and b_1b_1 contributions. As expected, the main contribution comes from the $s\bar{s}$ term. This contribution gets larger as we approach the threshold value $\xi = 1$, while the breather contribution is reduced.

n	$\Delta_{\mathcal{T}}$	sī	b_1b_1	$\Delta_{\mathcal{T}}^{(1)}$]	n	$\Delta_{\mathcal{T}}$	sī	b_1b_1	$\Delta_{\mathcal{T}}^{(1)}$
2	0.0625	0.0602025	0.0008771	0.0610796		2	0.0625	0.0618871	0.0000835	0.0619705
3	0.11111	0.1064464	0.0016783	0.1081246		3	0.11111	0.1098190	0.0001636	0.1099826
4	0.15625	0.1493874	0.0024134	0.1518008		4	0.15625	0.1543269	0.0002368	0.1545637
5	0.2	0.1910316	0.0031194	0.1941510		5	0.2	0.1974738	0.0003068	0.1977806

where $\Delta_{\mathcal{T}} = \frac{c}{24}(n-\frac{1}{n})$ is the conformal dimension of the branch point twist field [27, 35, 43] and we have now added a superindex to the form factors to indicate the quantum field they correspond to. The second sum is over all possible choices of particle types a_p with masses m_p .

As usual with this type of expansion, convergence of the sum is expected to be quick, and the main contributions come from the one- and two-particle form factors. Hence, if we can show such near saturation we can be confident that our form factors solutions are correct.

Let $\Delta_{\mathcal{T}}^{(\ell(\xi))}$ be the conformal dimension of the branch point twist field as given by (72) in the regime where $\ell(\xi)$ breathers are present. Although the exact value of $\Delta_{\mathcal{T}}$ is independent of ξ the number and contribution of the terms in the sum changes substantially depending on the coupling. In what follows we present numerical results for the sum above for $\ell(\xi) = 1, 2, 3$ and 4. For this we need first to obtain the one- and two-particle breather form factors of the stress-energy tensor in the sine-Gordon model. This can be done in a similar fashion as for the branch point twist fields, namely starting from the sinh-Gordon solutions presented in [25] and carrying out the fusion procedure. The results are presented in appendix E.

Let us consider the regimes when there are one, two, three or four breathers present we have that the expansion above can be approximated as follows:

- For ξ > 1 we are in the repulsive regime where no breathers are present. The main contribution to the Δ sum rule comes from the soliton-antisoliton form factor and was computed in [30].
- For $\frac{1}{2} \leq \xi < 1$ we have a single breather b_1 present and the main contributions are

$$\Delta_{\mathcal{T}}^{(1)} \approx -\frac{n}{32\pi^2 m^2 \langle \mathcal{T} \rangle} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\theta \, \frac{4\sin^2 \frac{\pi\xi}{2} F_{s\bar{s}}^{\mathcal{T}}(\theta;\xi,n) F_{s\bar{s}}^{\Theta}(\theta;\xi)^* + F_{b_1b_1}^{\mathcal{T}}(\theta;\xi,n) F_{b_1b_1}^{\Theta}(\theta;\xi)^*}{4\sin^2 \frac{\pi\xi}{2} \cosh^2 \frac{\theta}{2}} \,. (73)$$

The sum for two values of ξ is presented in Table 1.

• For $\frac{1}{3} \leq \xi < \frac{1}{2}$ we have two breathers b_1, b_2 present and the main contributions are

$$\Delta_{\mathcal{T}}^{(2)} \approx \Delta_{\mathcal{T}}^{(1)} - \frac{n F_{b_2}^{\mathcal{T}}(\xi, n) F_{b_2}^{\Theta}(\xi)^*}{8\pi m^2 \sin^2 \pi \xi \langle \mathcal{T} \rangle} - \frac{n}{32\pi^2 m^2 \langle \mathcal{T} \rangle} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\theta \, \frac{F_{b_2 b_2}^{\mathcal{T}}(\theta; \xi, n) F_{b_2 b_2}^{\Theta}(\theta; \xi)^*}{4 \sin^2 \pi \xi \cosh^2 \frac{\theta}{2}} \,. (74)$$

Numerical values of the sum (74) and of individual contributions to it are presented in Table 2 of Appendix E.

• For $\frac{1}{4} \leq \xi < \frac{1}{3}$ we have three breathers b_1, b_2, b_3 present and the main contributions are

$$\Delta_{\mathcal{T}}^{(3)} \approx \Delta_{\mathcal{T}}^{(2)} - \frac{n}{32\pi^2 m^2 \langle \mathcal{T} \rangle} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\theta \, \frac{F_{b_3 b_3}^{\prime}(\theta;\xi,n) F_{b_3 b_3}^{\Theta}(\theta;\xi)^*}{4 \sin^2 \frac{3\pi\xi}{2} \cosh^2 \frac{\theta}{2}}$$
(75)
$$- \frac{n}{64\pi^2 m^2 \langle \mathcal{T} \rangle} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\theta_1 d\theta_2 \, \frac{F_{b_1 b_3}^{\mathcal{T}}(\theta_1 - \theta_2;\xi,n) F_{b_1 b_3}^{\Theta}(\theta_1 - \theta_2;\xi)^*}{(\sin \frac{\pi\xi}{2} \cosh \theta_1 + \sin \frac{3\pi\xi}{2} \cosh \theta_2)^2}$$

• Finally, for $\frac{1}{5} \leq \xi < \frac{1}{4}$ we have four breathers b_1, b_2, b_3, b_4 present and the main contributions are

$$\Delta_{\mathcal{T}}^{(4)} \approx \Delta_{\mathcal{T}}^{(3)} - \frac{n F_{b_4}^{\mathcal{T}}(\xi, n) F_{b_4}^{\Theta}(\xi)^*}{8\pi m^2 \sin^2 2\pi \xi \langle \mathcal{T} \rangle} - \frac{n}{32\pi^2 m^2 \langle \mathcal{T} \rangle} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\theta \frac{F_{b_4 b_4}^{\mathcal{T}}(\theta; \xi, n) F_{b_4 b_4}^{\Theta}(\theta; \xi)^*}{4 \sin^2 2\pi \xi \cosh^2 \frac{\theta}{2}} - \frac{n}{64\pi^2 m^2 \langle \mathcal{T} \rangle} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\theta_1 d\theta_2 \frac{F_{b_2 b_4}^{\mathcal{T}}(\theta_1 - \theta_2; \xi, n) F_{b_2 b_4}^{\Theta}(\theta_1 - \theta_2; \xi)^*}{(\sin \pi \xi \cosh \theta_1 + \sin 2\pi \xi \cosh \theta_2)^2}.$$
(76)

Table 3 gives an example of the evaluation of the sum (76), albeit without including the b_2b_4 , b_3b_3 and b_4b_4 contributions, which we have not evaluated in this paper. Even so, the sum rule is approximately 95% saturated.

In conclusion, our numerical evaluation of the Δ sum rule in various regions of the attractive regime shows near saturation upon inclusion of all relevant one-particle and two-particle form factors and therefore provides strong backing for our analytical results. It is interesting to note that the deeper we go into the attractive regime (i.e. the smaller ξ is) the more significant breather contributions are, so that for instance, in Table 2(d) the soliton-antisoliton contribution represents only about 20% of the total value of the dimension.

7 Application: Entanglement Oscillations after a Mass Quench

An interesting application of our results is to the study of the entanglement dynamics of the sine-Gordon model after a global mass quench [44, 45]. That is, we want to study the time-dependence of a certain measure of entanglement when the mass scale *m* is abruptly changed at time zero. Then, if the original hamiltonian of the system was H(m) and *m* was the prequench soliton mass, at times t > 0 the system will time-evolve with a new Hamiltonian $H(\hat{m})$, where \hat{m} is the post-quench soliton mass. In such a situation, the reduced density matrix may be formally written as:

$$\rho_A = \operatorname{Tr}_B(e^{-itH(\hat{m})}|\mathbf{0}\rangle\langle\mathbf{0}|e^{itH(\hat{m})}), \qquad (77)$$

where *A* and *B* are two complementary regions and $|0\rangle$ is the pre-quench ground state. In terms of ρ_A the Rényi and von Neumann entropies are defined in the usual form:

$$S_n(t) := \frac{\log(\mathrm{Tr}\rho_A^n)}{1-n}, \qquad S_1(t) := \lim_{n \to 1} S_n(t),$$
(78)

and if A is a semi-infinite region, these expressions are equivalent to:

$$S_n(t) = \frac{\log\left(\varepsilon^{2\Delta_{\mathcal{T}}} \langle 0|\mathcal{T}(0,t)|0\rangle_n\right)\right)}{1-n},$$
(79)

and its $n \rightarrow 1$ limit, where ε is a non-universal UV cut-off which can be eliminated by considering instead the quantities

$$\Delta S_n(t) := S_n(t) - S_n(0),$$
(80)

and $|0\rangle_n$ is the pre-quench ground state in the replica theory. Note that $S_n(0)$ is a function of the vacuum expectation value $_n\langle 0|\mathcal{T}(0,0)|0\rangle_n$ which we have abbreviated as $\langle \mathcal{T}\rangle$ in our form factor formulae.

With these definitions, the situation we want to consider here is entirely analogous to the studies performed in [46, 47]. In fact, the present model has two key common features with the minimal E_8 Toda field theory studied in [47]. They are the presence of non-vanishing one-particle form factors and a mass spectrum where all masses are proportional to a fundamental scale *m* (the mass of the soliton/antisoliton). Carrying out the quench perturbation theory proposed in [48], non-vanishing one-particle form factors inevitably lead to entanglement oscillations at first order in perturbation theory. As observed in [46, 49] the dynamics of entanglement is closely tied to the dynamics of the one-point function of the order parameter. Indeed, oscillations of the one-point function of the order parameter. Second mass quench were found in [50] employing perturbation theory.

The formulae involved are almost identical to those presented in [47], specially in the supplementary material. We must just highlight that the field associated with the mass quench in this case is the perturbing field in the sine-Gordon theory, namely the field $\Psi = 2 \cos g \varphi$ where g is the coupling we first encountered in the action (1). This field is, as usual, proportional to the trace of the stress-energy tensor, hence its form factors are identical to those of Θ up to a proportionality constant (essentially, we need to replace $\langle \Theta \rangle = 2\pi m_1^2$ with $\langle \Psi \rangle$). Let us consider a perturbation where the original coupling μ in the action (1) is changed by a small amount δ_{μ} , that is $\mu \mapsto \mu + \delta_{\mu}$ with $\frac{\delta_{\mu}}{\mu} \ll 1$. Then, the $\mathcal{O}(\delta_{\mu})$ contribution to the Rényi entropies may be expressed as a series in form factors of \mathcal{T} and Ψ , where the leading contributions to the increment of the Rényi entropies, come from one- and two-particle form factors. After various simplifications, the series takes the form

$$\begin{split} \Delta S_{n}(t) &= \frac{1}{1-n} \frac{\delta_{\mu}}{\mu} \left[\frac{2\Delta_{\mathcal{T}}}{2-2\Delta_{\Psi}} + n\mathcal{C}_{\Psi} \sum_{k=1}^{\left[\frac{\ell(\xi)}{2}\right]} \frac{2}{r_{2k}^{2}} \hat{F}_{b_{2k}}^{\Psi}(\xi)^{*} \hat{F}_{b_{2k}}^{\mathcal{T}}(\xi,n) \cos(r_{2k}\hat{m}t) \quad (81) \\ &+ 2n\mathcal{C}_{\Psi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\theta}{2\pi} \frac{\operatorname{Re}\left[[\hat{F}_{s\bar{s}}^{\Psi}(2\theta;\xi)]^{*} \hat{F}_{s\bar{s}}^{\mathcal{T}}(2\theta;\xi,n) e^{-2i\hat{m}t\cosh\theta} \right]}{2\cosh^{2}\theta} \\ &+ 2n\mathcal{C}_{\Psi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\theta}{2\pi} \sum_{k=1}^{\ell(\xi)} \frac{\operatorname{Re}\left[[\hat{F}_{b_{k}b_{k}}^{\Psi}(2\theta;\xi)]^{*} \hat{F}_{b_{k}b_{k}}^{\mathcal{T}}(2\theta;\xi,n) e^{-2ir_{k}\hat{m}t\cosh\theta} \right]}{2r_{k}^{2}\cosh^{2}\theta} \\ &+ 2n\mathcal{C}_{\Psi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\theta}{2\pi} \sum_{k\neq p}^{\prime} \frac{1}{r_{k}\cosh\theta(r_{k}\cosh\theta+r_{p}\cosh\theta)} \\ &\times \operatorname{Re}\left[[\hat{F}_{b_{k}b_{p}}^{\Psi}(\theta-\tilde{\theta})]^{*} \hat{F}_{b_{k}b_{p}}^{\mathcal{T}}(\theta-\tilde{\theta}) e^{-i\hat{m}t(r_{k}\cosh\theta+r_{p}\cosh\theta)} \right] + \dots \right] + \mathcal{O}(\delta_{\lambda}^{2}), \end{split}$$

where

$$\tilde{\theta} := -\sinh^{-1}\left(\frac{r_k}{r_p}\sinh\theta\right),\tag{82}$$

 $r_k = \frac{\hat{m}_k}{\hat{m}}$ are the scaled post-quench breather masses. The "prime" symbol in the last sum indicates the additional restriction that only terms where k and p are either both even or both odd will be non-vanishing. The "hatted" form factors are scaled versions of the usual form factors where the expectation values of the associated fields have been factored out. This dependency can then be absolved into the ratio of couplings δ_{μ}/μ and the constant C_{Ψ} . The conformal dimension $\Delta_{\Psi} = g^2 = \frac{\xi}{1+\xi}$ and the constant

$$C_{\Psi} = \frac{A_{\Psi}}{\kappa^2}$$
, where $\langle \Psi \rangle = A_{\Psi} \mu^{\frac{2\Delta_{\Psi}}{2-2\Delta_{\Psi}}}$ and $m = \kappa \mu^{\frac{1}{2-2\Delta_{\Psi}}}$. (83)



These are the standard scaling laws for vacuum expectation values and the mass-coupling relation. A relationship between the constant A_{Ψ} and κ can be read off from the paper [51] where the expectation values of exponential fields in the sine-Gordon model were obtained. From this formula it follows that

$$\left\langle\Psi\right\rangle = 2\left[\frac{m\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2-2g^2}\right)}{2\Gamma\left(\frac{g^2}{2-2g^2}\right)}\right]^{2g^2} \exp\int_0^\infty \frac{dt}{t} \left[\frac{\sinh^2(2g^2t)}{2\sinh(g^2t)\sinh t\cosh((1-g^2)t)} - 2g^2e^{-2t}\right].$$
(84)

It is important to note that this formula is only convergent for $g^2 < \frac{1}{2}$, which excludes the repulsive regime [51]. The mass-coupling relation was given earlier in (4). This allows us to fix the ratio above to

$$\mathcal{C}_{\Psi} = \frac{\Gamma(g^2)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2-2g^2})^2}{2\Gamma(1-g^2)\Gamma(\frac{g^2}{2-2g^2})^2} \exp \int_0^\infty \frac{dt}{t} \left[\frac{\sinh^2(2g^2t)}{2\sinh(g^2t)\sinh t\cosh((1-g^2)t)} - 2g^2e^{-2t} \right].$$
(85)

Despite the messy nature of the formula (81) (a very similar formula can be written for the von Neumann entropy) the main features of entanglement are rather clear: for small quenches, there will be undamped oscillations whenever any one-particle form factors are non-vanishing, confirming the general ideas observed in [47, 48]. In addition, there will be additional oscillatory terms coming from higher particle form factors which will be suppressed by a power of *t* that depends on the leading behaviour of the form factors near zero rapidity (this can be analysed further by using a saddle-point approximation). This means that the dynamics of entanglement following a mass quench is rather different in the regime $\xi \leq \frac{1}{2}$ (undamped oscillations with at least two breathers present) and for for $\xi > \frac{1}{2}$ (damped oscillations with at most one breather present).

We demonstrate these qualitative differences in the entanglement evolution by evaluating (81) numerically for various values of n and two particular values of ξ . In Figure 2 $\Delta S_n(t)$ is displayed for n = 2, 3, 4, 5 and for $\xi = 0.810361$ and $\xi = 0.420712$. Clearly, above the second breather threshold ($\xi = 0.810361$) no undamped oscillations can be seen, which are, very clearly present when the second breather joins the spectrum ($\xi = 0.420712$). Note that although $\Delta S_n(0) = 0$ by the definition (80), it is not exactly zero numerically (although it is rather small). This is because $S_n(t)$ is evaluated at first order in perturbation theory and therefore its value at zero is only an approximation of the exact analytic value $S_n(0)$ that is subtracted in (80).

Note that these results are only expected to hold for small quenches and times $t < \mu^{-1}$, as explained in [48] and also discussed in [52,53]. In addition, we know that for large times the leading feature of entanglement (in any regime) is linear growth [44, 45, 54]. As observed in other studies, this feature is not recovered using first-order perturbation theory as it is a second order effect [46, 47]. In addition, in some cases, like for E_8 Toda field theory, linear growth is very slow so that it only becomes apparent for large times in numerical simulations [47]. The same phenomenology is also observed for the von Neumann entropy for the same reasons.

It is worth considering whether or not these behaviours will persist for larger times and quenches. In this regard, arguments have been put forward as to why the undamped oscillations found at first order should be damped when including higher order terms [19, 52]. At the same time, we know of at least one theory, E_8 Toda field theory, where this eventual damping is not observed numerically even for large quenches and times [47]. This suggests that this phenomenology still needs to be better understood. Similar behaviours have been observed in [19, 20, 50, 52] for the expectation value of the field Ψ and σ and in [18] for two-point functions of the field φ .



Figure 2: The time evolution of the rescaled Rényi entropy difference $\left(\frac{\delta\mu}{\mu}\right)^{-1}\Delta S_n$ after a mass quench in the sine-Gordon model with interaction parameter $\xi = 0.810361$ (a) and $\xi = 0.420712$ (b). Time is measured in units of the inverse soliton mass *m* and the blue, yellow, green, and red curves correspond to Rényi entropies with n = 2, 3, 4 and 5, respectively.

8 Conclusion

In this paper we have carried out an in-depth study of low particle-number form factors of the branch point twist field in the sine-Gordon model in the attractive regime. We have considered up to four breathers in the spectrum and focused on the one- and two-particle form factors. Our work extends results for the repulsive regime that were presented in [30].

Although computations are generally tedious, great simplification comes from the presence of U(1) symmetry in the soliton-antisoliton sector and \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry in the breather sector. The latter imply the vanishing of a large number of form factors so that only form factors containing the same number of solitons and antisolitons as well as an even number of odd breathers are non-vanishing. The two-particle form factors of the soliton-antisoliton sector can be computed by diagonalizing the form factor equations (as the theory is non-diagonal) and incorporating the correct structure of bound state and kinematic poles, as discussed in great detail in Section 4 and Appendix D. For the breather sector the combination of the fusion mechanism with the analytic continuation from sinh-Gordon, provide an effective way of constructing the form factors of heavier breathers from those of lighter ones leading to the results of Secion 5 and Appendices B and C.

Our form factors can now be employed to compute correlation functions of branch point twist fields, hence a number of entanglement measures. In this paper we have highlighted just one such application, namely to the study of the entanglement dynamics following a mass quench in the sine-Gordon model. As observed in a similar study [47] we find that at least for small quenches, undamped oscillations of frequencies proportional to the even breather masses are present and constitute the leading behaviour of Rényi and von Neumann entropies. This is analogous to results found in [19, 20, 50, 52] for the expectation value of the field Ψ and σ and more generally in [18] for two-point functions of the field φ .

As anticipated in the introduction, our immediate goal now is to extend these results to symmetry resolved twist fields [28, 29].

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to Benjamin Doyon, Gábor Takács and Jacopo Viti for useful discussions. We specially thank Pasquale Calabrese for discussions and for his early stage involvement in this project. DXH acknowledges support from ERC under Consolidator grant number 771536 (NEMO).

A Minimal Form Factors Mixed Representations

As mentioned in Sections 4 and 5 the most useful representation for the minimal form factors is neither exponential nor based entirely on Gamma-function products, but a mixture of the two. This idea was employed first in [25] and can be implemented in a similar way for any minimal form factor of the type described in this paper. The function (36) can be written as

$$\Phi(\theta;\xi,n) = -i \sinh \frac{\theta}{2n} \prod_{k,p=0}^{N} \left[\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{p+n+(k+1)\xi}{2n}\right)^2 \Gamma\left(\frac{n+\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+p+1+k\xi+n}{2n}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{-n-\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+p+1+k\xi+n}{2n}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{p+n+k\xi+1}{2n}\right)^2 \Gamma\left(\frac{n+\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+p+(k+1)\xi+n}{2n}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{-n-\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+p+(k+1)\xi+n}{2n}\right)} \right]^{(-1)^p} \times \exp\left[-\int_0^\infty \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \frac{\sinh\left(\frac{1}{2}(1-\xi)t\right) \left(e^{-\xi(N+1)t} + e^{-(\xi+1)(N+1)t} - e^{-(N+1)t}\right) \sinh^2\left(\frac{t}{2}\left(n-\frac{\theta}{i\pi}\right)\right)}{\cosh\frac{\xi t}{2}\sinh\frac{\xi t}{2}\sinh nt} \right].$$
(86)

Whereas the functions $\varphi_{\pm}(\theta;\xi,n)$ can be written as

$$\varphi_{+}(\theta;\xi,n) = \prod_{p=0}^{N} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{n+2p\xi+1}{2n}\right)^{2} \Gamma\left(\frac{-\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+2p\xi+2\xi-1}{2n}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{2n+\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+2p\xi+2\xi-1}{2n}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{n+2p\xi+2\xi-1}{2n}\right)^{2} \Gamma\left(\frac{-\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+2p\xi+1}{2n}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{2n+\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+2p\xi+2\xi-1}{2n}\right)} \times \exp\left[-2\int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \frac{e^{-2\xi(N+1)t} \sinh\left((\xi-1)t\right) \sinh^{2}\left(\frac{t}{2}\left(n-\frac{\theta}{i\pi}\right)\right)}{\sinh(nt)\sinh(\xi t)}\right].$$
(87)

This quantity is independent of the choice of *N* only when $\xi > 1/2$, but can be made convergent for any positive real values of ξ if the minimal allowed value for *N* is suitably chosen. In fact (87) gives a physically motivated (as seen in Appendix D) and correct analytic continuation. Alternatively, for $\frac{1}{2p} \ge \xi > \frac{1}{2p+2}$ and $p \in \mathbb{Z}^+$

$$\begin{split} \varphi_{-}(\theta;\xi,n) &= \prod_{m=0}^{N} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{n+2(m-p)\xi+1}{2n}\right)^{2} \Gamma\left(\frac{-\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+2(m+p+1)\xi-1}{2n}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{2n+\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+2(m+p+1)\xi-1}{2n}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{n+2(m+p+1)\xi-1}{2n}\right)^{2} \Gamma\left(\frac{-\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+2(m-p)\xi+1}{2n}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{2n+\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+2(m-p)\xi+1}{2n}\right)} \\ &\times \exp\left[-2\int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \frac{e^{-2\xi(N+1)t} \sinh\left(\left((2p+1)\xi-1\right)t\right) \sinh^{2}\left(\frac{t}{2}\left(n-\frac{\theta}{i\pi}\right)\right)}{\sinh(nt)\sinh(\xi t)}\right]. \end{split}$$
(88)

Finally, the breather-breather minimal form factor also admits the representation

$$R(\theta;\xi,n) = \prod_{k=0}^{N} \left[\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{-\frac{i\theta}{\pi}-\xi+k}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{\frac{i\theta}{\pi}-\xi+k}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{-\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+1+\xi+k}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+1+\xi+k}{2n}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{-\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+k}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+k}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+k+1}{2n}\right)} \int \left(1+\frac{\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+k+1}{2n}\right)} \right]^{(-1)^{k}} \times \exp\left[4\int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{dt}{t} \frac{e^{-\frac{t}{2}(3+4N)}\sinh\frac{\xi t}{2}\sinh\frac{(1+\xi)t}{2}\cosh t\left(n+\frac{i\theta}{\pi}\right)}{(1+e^{t})\sinh(nt)}}\right].$$
(89)

B Computation of Branch Point Twist Field Breather Form Factors from Fusion

B.1 Computation of $F_{b_3b_1}(\theta; \xi, n)$

Using fusion again we have that

$$-i\operatorname{Res}_{\theta=\theta_1}F_{b_2b_1b_1}(\theta+\frac{i\pi\xi}{2},\theta_1-i\pi\xi,\theta_2;\xi,n) = \Gamma_{b_2b_1}^{b_3}F_{b_3b_1}(\theta_{12};\xi,n).$$
(90)

This gives a solution of the form

$$F_{b_{3}b_{1}}(\theta_{12};\xi,n) = H_{31}(\xi,n)Q_{31}(x_{1},x_{2};\xi,n)\frac{R(\theta_{12};\xi,n)R(\theta_{12}+i\pi\xi;\xi,n)R(\theta_{12}-i\pi\xi;\xi,n)}{(x_{1}-x_{2}\omega\beta)(x_{2}-x_{1}\omega\beta)(x_{1}\omega-x_{2})(x_{2}\omega-x_{1}\beta)}$$
(91)

The polynomial $Q_{31}(x_1, x_2; \xi, n)$ follows from the reduction of $Q_{211}(x_1\beta^{-\frac{1}{2}}, x_1\beta, x_2; \xi, n)$ and can be written as

$$Q_{31}(x_1, x_2; \xi, n) = x_1 x_2(\omega x_1 - x_2)(x_2 \omega - x_1 \beta), \qquad (92)$$

if we also identify

$$H_{31}(\xi,n) = -\langle \mathcal{T} \rangle \frac{2\omega\beta \sin\frac{\pi}{2n} \sin\frac{\pi}{n} \cos\frac{\pi(1-\xi)}{2n} (1+2\cos\frac{\pi\xi}{n}) \Gamma_{b_2b_1}^{b_3} \Gamma_{b_1b_1}^{b_2}}{n^2 \sin\frac{\pi(1-\xi)}{2n} \sin\frac{\pi(1-\xi)}{2n} \sin\frac{\pi(1-2\xi)}{2n}} \frac{R(-2\pi i\xi;\xi,n)R(-i\pi\xi;\xi,n)^2}{R(i\pi;\xi,n)^2} .$$
(93)

B.2 Computation of $F_{b_4}(\xi, n)$ from Fusion in $F_{b_3b_1}(\theta; \xi, n)$

Computing

$$-i \underset{\theta=2\pi i\xi}{\text{Res}} F_{b_3 b_1}(\theta;\xi,n) = \Gamma_{b_3 b_1}^{b_4} F_{b_4}(\xi,n),$$
(94)

which gives

$$F_{b_{4}}(\xi,n) = \langle \mathcal{T} \rangle \frac{\sin \frac{\pi}{n} \sin \frac{\pi}{2n} (1 + 2\cos \frac{\pi\xi}{n}) \cos \frac{\pi(1-\xi)}{2n} \Gamma_{b_{3}b_{1}}^{b_{4}} \Gamma_{b_{2}b_{1}}^{b_{3}} \Gamma_{b_{1}b_{1}}^{b_{2}}}{2n^{2} \sin^{2} \frac{\pi(1+\xi)}{2n} \sin \frac{\pi(1-2\xi)}{2n} \sin \frac{\pi(1-3\xi)}{2n}} \times \frac{R(-3\pi i\xi;\xi,n)R(-2\pi i\xi;\xi,n)^{2}R(-i\pi\xi;\xi,n)^{3}}{R(i\pi;\xi,n)^{2}},$$
(95)

which is plotted in Fig. 3 as a function of ξ and *n*.



Figure 3: Left: The one-particle form factor $F_{b_4}(\xi, n)$ as a function of n for $\xi = 0.24$ (red), 0.21 (blue), 0.2 (green), 0.1 (magenta) and 0.05 (brown). Right: The one-particle form factor $F_{b_4}(\xi, n)$ as a function of ξ for n = 2 (red), 5 (blue), 12 (green), 50 (magenta).

We have also that

$$\lim_{n \to 1} \frac{F_{b_4}(\xi, n)}{1 - n} = \frac{2\pi \sin^4 \frac{\pi\xi}{2} \Gamma_{b_3 b_1}^{b_4} \Gamma_{b_2 b_1}^{b_3} \Gamma_{b_1 b_1}^{b_2}}{\sin 2\pi\xi \sin^2 \pi\xi} \frac{1 + 2\cos \pi\xi}{1 - 2\cos \pi\xi} \times \frac{R(-3\pi i\xi;\xi,1)R(-2\pi i\xi;\xi,1)^2R(-i\pi\xi;\xi,1)^3}{R(i\pi;\xi,1)^2}.$$
(96)

Note that the breather b_4 is only present for $\xi < \frac{1}{4}$.

B.3 Computation of $F_{b_2b_2}(\theta; \xi, n)$

Starting with the form factor $F_{b_2b_1b_1}(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_2; \xi, n)$ we can now fuse the last two particles to obtain $F_{b_2b_2}(\theta; \xi, n)$. The bound state residue equation dictates that

$$-i\operatorname{Res}_{\theta=\theta_1}F_{b_1b_1b_2}(\theta+\frac{i\pi\xi}{2},\theta_1-\frac{i\pi\xi}{2},\theta_2;\xi,n) = \Gamma_{b_1b_1}^{b_2}F_{b_2b_2}(\theta_1,\theta_2;\xi,n),$$
(97)

From the the form factor axioms we can write the following

$$-i\operatorname{Res}_{\theta_{0}=\theta_{1}}F_{b_{1}b_{1}b_{2}}(\theta_{0}+\frac{i\pi\xi}{2},\theta_{1}-\frac{i\pi\xi}{2},\theta_{2};\xi)=\Gamma^{b_{2}}_{b_{1}b_{1}}F_{b_{2}b_{2}}(\theta_{12};\xi)$$
(98)

$$= -i \operatorname{Res}_{\theta_{0}=\theta_{1}} F_{b_{2}b_{1}b_{1}}(\theta_{2}, \theta_{1} - \frac{i\pi\xi}{2}, \theta_{0} + \frac{i\pi\xi}{2}; \xi) S_{b_{1}b_{2}}(\theta_{12} - \frac{i\pi\xi}{2}) S_{b_{1}b_{2}}(\theta_{02} + \frac{i\pi\xi}{2}) S_{b_{1}b_{1}}(\theta_{01} + i\pi\xi)$$

$$= (\Gamma_{b_{1}b_{2}}^{b_{2}})^{2} F_{b_{2}b_{1}b_{1}}(\theta_{2}, \theta_{1} - \frac{i\pi\xi}{2}, \theta_{1} + \frac{i\pi\xi}{2}; \xi) S_{b_{1}b_{2}}(\theta_{12} - \frac{i\pi\xi}{2}) S_{b_{1}b_{2}}(\theta_{12} + \frac{i\pi\xi}{2})$$

$$= (\Gamma_{b_{1}b_{2}}^{b_{2}})^{2} S_{b_{2}b_{2}}(\theta_{12}) F_{b_{2}b_{1}b_{1}}(\theta_{2}, \theta_{1} - \frac{i\pi\xi}{2}, \theta_{1} + \frac{i\pi\xi}{2}; \xi), \qquad (99)$$

where we used the bootstrap equation for the breather S-matrices

$$S_{b_1b_2}(\theta - \frac{i\pi\xi}{2})S_{b_1b_2}(\theta + \frac{i\pi\xi}{2}) = S_{b_2b_2}(\theta).$$
(100)

Then it immediately follows that the two-particle form factor has the following structure

$$F_{b_2b_2}(\theta_{12};\xi,n) = H_{22}(\xi,n)Q_{22}(x_1,x_2;\xi,n)\frac{R(\theta_{12};\xi,n)^2R(\theta_{12}+i\pi\xi;\xi,n)R(\theta_{12}-i\pi\xi;\xi,n)}{(x_1-\omega x_2)(x_2-\omega x_1)(x_1-\omega\beta x_2)(x_2-\omega\beta x_1)},$$
(101)

with

$$Q_{22}(x_1, x_2; \xi, n) = \alpha_1(\xi, n)\sigma_1^4 + \alpha_2(\xi, n)\sigma_2\sigma_1^2 + \alpha_3(\xi, n)\sigma_2^2,$$
(102)

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_{1}(\xi,n) &= \omega\beta^{2}(1+\omega), \\ \alpha_{2}(\xi,n) &= -(\beta(1+\beta)+\omega\beta^{2}(\beta+\beta^{2}+4)+\omega^{2}(4\beta^{2}+\beta+1)+\omega^{3}\beta^{2}), \\ \omega_{3}(\xi,n) &= -1+\omega^{2}(\beta^{5}+5\beta^{2}+2\beta^{4}+3\beta^{3}+2\beta+1)+(\omega^{-1}+\omega^{4})\beta(1+\beta+\beta^{2}) \\ &+\omega(3\beta+2\beta^{3}+\beta^{4}+5\beta^{2}+2+\beta^{-1})-\omega^{3}\beta^{4}, \end{aligned}$$
(103)

and

$$H_{22}(\xi,n) = \langle \mathcal{T} \rangle \frac{\sqrt{\omega}\beta^{-1}\sin\frac{\pi}{n}\sin\frac{\pi}{2n}(\Gamma_{b_1b_1}^{b_2})^2}{4n^2\sin^2\frac{\pi(\xi-1)}{2n}\sin^2\frac{\pi(\xi+1)}{2n}} \frac{R(-i\pi\xi;\xi,n)^2}{R(i\pi;\xi,n)^2} = \frac{\sqrt{\omega}F_{b_2}(\xi,n)^2}{2\beta\cos\frac{\pi}{2n}\langle \mathcal{T} \rangle}.$$
 (104)

B.4 Computation of F_{b_4} from Fusion in $F_{b_2b_2}(\theta;\xi,n)$

Finally, we may consider the fusion of two b_2 breathers to form b_4 . We employ the equation

$$-i\mathop{\rm Res}_{\theta=\theta_1}F_{b_2b_2}(\theta+i\pi\xi,\theta_1-i\pi\xi;\xi,n) = \Gamma^{b_4}_{b_2b_2}F_{b_4}(\xi,n).$$
(105)

This gives us

$$F_{b_{4}}(\xi,n) = \langle \mathcal{T} \rangle \frac{\sin \frac{\pi}{n} \sin \frac{\pi}{2n} (1 + 2\cos \frac{\pi\xi}{n}) \cos \frac{\pi(1-\xi)}{2n} (\Gamma_{b_{1}b_{1}}^{b_{2}})^{2} \Gamma_{b_{2}b_{2}}^{b_{4}}}{2n^{2} \sin \frac{(1-2\xi)\pi}{2n} \sin \frac{(1-3\xi)\pi}{2n} \sin^{2} \frac{(1+\xi)\pi}{2n}} \times \frac{R(-3\pi i\xi;\xi,n)R(-2\pi i\xi;\xi,n)^{2}R(-i\pi\xi;\xi,n)^{3}}{R(i\pi;\xi,n)^{2}}.$$
 (106)

This is identical to the result we obtained from fusing $F_{b_3b_1}(\theta;\xi,n)$ with the identification

$$\Gamma_{b_3b_1}^{b_4}\Gamma_{b_2b_1}^{b_3} = \Gamma_{b_2b_2}^{b_4}.$$
(107)

C Form Factors of the Stress-Energy Tensor from Fusion

The form factors of the trace of the stress-energy tensor in the sinh-Gordon model were first computed in [25], where closed formulae for special values of the coupling were obtained. We are interested in the case of generic coupling *B* for which solutions up to 14 particles were given. These solutions will be the building blocks for our fusion procedure. We are particularly interested in the one-particle form factors of the second and fourth breather which requires the two- and four-particle form factors of the stress energy tensor in sinh-Gordon. Replacing $B = -2\xi$ these form factors are given by

$$F_{b_1b_1}^{\Theta}(\theta;\xi) = 2\pi m_1^2 \frac{R(\theta;\xi,1)}{R(i\pi;\xi,1)},$$
(108)

where m_1 is the mass of the first breather as given in (3) and

$$F_{b_1b_1b_1b_1}^{\Theta}(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3, \theta_4; \xi) = -\frac{8\pi m_1^2 \sin \pi \xi}{R(i\pi; \xi, 1)^2} \sigma_1 \sigma_2 \sigma_3 \prod_{1 \le i < j \le 4} \frac{R(\theta_{ij}; \xi, 1)}{x_i + x_j},$$
(109)

with $x_i = e^{\theta_i}$ and σ_i the elementary symmetric polynomial on variables $\{x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4\}$.

C.1 Computation of $F_{b_2}^{\Theta}(\xi)$

Applying the fusion procedure to the two-particle form factor we have that

$$-i \mathop{\rm Res}_{\theta=i\pi\xi} F^{\Theta}_{b_1 b_1}(\theta;\xi) = \Gamma^{b_2}_{b_1 b_1} F^{\Theta}_{b_2}(\xi), \qquad (110)$$

and we get simply

$$F_{b_2}^{\Theta}(\xi) = 2\pi m_1^2 \sqrt{2\tan \pi\xi} \frac{R(-i\pi\xi;\xi,1)}{R(i\pi;\xi,1)},$$
(111)

which is plotted in Fig. 4.

C.2 Computation of $F_{b_2b_1b_1}^{\Theta}(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3; \xi)$

In order to get higher breather form factors we must use the four-particle solution above. For instance we may fuse the first two particles to obtain $F_{b_2b_1b_1}^{\Theta}(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3; \xi)$. The relevant equation is

$$-i\operatorname{Res}_{\theta_{0}=\theta_{1}}F^{\Theta}_{b_{1}b_{1}b_{1}b_{1}}(\theta_{0}+\frac{i\pi\xi}{2},\theta_{1}-\frac{i\pi\xi}{2},\theta_{2},\theta_{3};\xi)=\Gamma^{b_{2}}_{b_{1}b_{1}}F^{\Theta}_{b_{2}b_{1}b_{1}}(\theta_{1},\theta_{2},\theta_{3};\xi),$$
(112)

which after some simplifications gives

$$\begin{split} F^{\Theta}_{b_{2}b_{1}b_{1}}(\theta_{1},\theta_{2},\theta_{3};\xi) &= H^{\Theta}_{211}(\xi)Q^{\Theta}_{211}(x_{1},x_{2},x_{3};\xi)\frac{R(\theta_{23};\xi,1)}{x_{2}+x_{3}} \\ &\times \frac{R(\theta_{12}+\frac{i\pi\xi}{2};\xi,1)R(\theta_{12}-\frac{i\pi\xi}{2};\xi,1)R(\theta_{13}-\frac{i\pi\xi}{2};\xi,1)R(\theta_{13}+\frac{i\pi\xi}{2};\xi,1)}{(x_{2}+ax_{1})(x_{1}+ax_{2})(x_{3}+ax_{1})(x_{1}+ax_{3})} \end{split}$$
(113)

with $\alpha := e^{\frac{i\pi\xi}{2}}$ and

$$Q_{211}^{\Theta}(x_1, x_2, x_3; \xi) = (\sigma_1 + 2\cos\frac{\pi\xi}{2}\hat{\sigma}_1)(\sigma_2 + 2\cos\frac{\pi\xi}{2}\sigma_1\hat{\sigma}_1 + \hat{\sigma}_1^2)(\hat{\sigma}_1\sigma_1 + 2\cos\frac{\pi\xi}{2}\sigma_2),$$
(114)

for $\hat{\sigma}_1 = x_1$, $\sigma_1 = x_2 + x_3$ and $\sigma_2 = x_2 x_3$. The normalization constant is

$$H_{211}^{\Theta}(\xi) = -\frac{8\pi m_1^2 \alpha^2 \sin \frac{\pi\xi}{2} R(-i\pi\xi;\xi,1) \Gamma_{b_1 b_1}^{b_2}}{R(i\pi;\xi,1)^2}.$$
 (115)



Figure 4: The one particle form factor $F_{b_2}^{\Theta}(\xi)$ for m = 1.

C.3 Computation of $F_{b_2b_2}^{\Theta}(\theta;\xi)$

We know from Watson's equation that

$$F_{b_1b_1b_2}^{\Theta}(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3; \xi) = F_{b_2b_1b_1}^{\Theta}(\theta_3, \theta_2, \theta_1; \xi) S_{b_1b_2}(\theta_{23}) S_{b_1b_2}(\theta_{13}) S_{b_1b_1}(\theta_{12}).$$
(116)

So we have that

$$-i\operatorname{Res}_{\theta_{0}=\theta_{1}}F^{\Theta}_{b_{1}b_{1}b_{2}}(\theta_{0}+\frac{i\pi\xi}{2},\theta_{1}-\frac{i\pi\xi}{2},\theta_{2};\xi)=\Gamma^{b_{2}}_{b_{1}b_{1}}F^{\Theta}_{b_{2}b_{2}}(\theta_{12};\xi)$$
(117)

$$= (\Gamma_{b_1b_2}^{b_2})^2 S_{22}(\theta_{12}) F_{b_2b_1b_1}^{\Theta}(\theta_2, \theta_1 - \frac{i\pi\xi}{2}, \theta_1 + \frac{i\pi\xi}{2}; \xi), \qquad (118)$$

which follows exactly as in (99). This gives

$$F_{b_2b_2}^{\Theta}(\theta_{12};\xi) = H_{22}^{\Theta}(\xi)Q_{22}^{\Theta}(x_1, x_2;\xi) \frac{R(\theta_{12};\xi, 1)^2 R(\theta_{12} + i\pi\xi;\xi, 1) R(\theta_{12} - i\pi\xi;\xi, 1)}{(x_1 + \alpha^2 x_2)(x_2 + \alpha^2 x_1)},$$
(119)

where

$$H_{22}^{\Theta}(\xi) = -\frac{8\pi m_1^2 \alpha^2 \sin \pi \xi R(-i\pi\xi;\xi,1)^2 (\Gamma_{b_1 b_1}^{b_2})^2}{R(i\pi;\xi,1)^2}, \quad Q_{22}^{\Theta}(x_1,x_2;\xi) = \sigma_1^2 + 2\cos \pi \xi \,\sigma_2,$$
(120)

with $\sigma_1 = x_1 + x_2$ and $\sigma_2 = x_1 x_2$.

C.4 Computation of $F_{b_4}^{\Theta}(\xi)$

By computing the residue

$$-i \operatorname{Res}_{\theta=2\pi i\xi} F^{\Theta}_{b_2 b_2}(\theta;\xi) = \Gamma^{b_4}_{b_2 b_2} F^{\Theta}_{b_4}(\xi), \qquad (121)$$

which gives

$$F_{b_{4}}^{\Theta}(\xi) = -4\pi m_{1}^{2} \sec \frac{3\pi\xi}{2} \left(\sin \frac{\pi\xi}{2} + \sin \frac{5\pi\xi}{2} \right) (\Gamma_{b_{1}b_{1}}^{b_{2}})^{2} \Gamma_{b_{2}b_{2}}^{b_{4}} \times \frac{R(-3\pi i\xi;\xi,1)R(-2\pi i\xi;\xi,1)^{2}R(-\pi i\xi;\xi,1)^{3}}{R(i\pi;\xi,1)^{2}}.$$
 (122)

A plot of $F_{b_4}^{\Theta}(\xi)$ as a function of ξ is presented in Fig. 5.



Figure 5: The one-particle form factor $F_{b_4}^{\Theta}(\xi)$ for m = 1.

C.5 Computation of $F_{b_3b_1}^{\Theta}(\theta;\xi)$

The last two-particle form factor that we can obtain starting with (109) is $F_{b_1b_3}^{\Theta}(\theta;\xi)$, resulting from the fusion process:

$$-i\operatorname{Res}_{\theta_1=\theta_0}F^{\Theta}_{b_2b_1b_1}(\theta_1 + \frac{i\pi\xi}{2}, \theta_0 - i\pi\xi, \theta_2; \xi)$$
(123)

$$F^{\Theta}_{b_{3}b_{1}}(\theta_{12};\xi) = H^{\Theta}_{31}(\xi)Q^{\Theta}_{31}(x_{1},x_{2};\xi)\frac{R(\theta_{12};\xi,1)R(\theta_{12}-i\pi\xi;\xi,1)R(\theta_{12}+i\pi\xi;\xi,1)}{(x_{1}+\alpha^{2}x_{2})(x_{2}+\alpha^{2}x_{1})}, \quad (124)$$

with

$$H_{31}^{\Theta}(\xi) = -\frac{8\pi m_1^2 \alpha^2 \sin\frac{\pi\xi}{2} \sin\frac{3\pi\xi}{2}}{\sin 2\pi\xi} \frac{R(-i\pi\xi;\xi,1)^2 R(-2\pi i\xi;\xi,1)\Gamma_{b_1b_1}^{b_2}\Gamma_{b_2b_1}^{b_3}}{R(i\pi;\xi,1)^2}, \qquad (125)$$

$$Q_{31}^{\Theta}(x_1, x_2; \xi) = (x_1 + x_2 + 2x_2 \cos \pi \xi)(x_1 + x_2 + 2x_1 \cos \pi \xi).$$
(126)

D Dynamical Poles of the Soliton-Antisoliton Form Factors

In this appendix we first show that the two representations $G_{\pm}(\theta; \xi, n)$ of the minimal solitonantisoliton form factor are indeed proportional to each other when the proper CDD-factors accounting for the bound state poles are introduced. We also demonstrate the precise working of the dynamical pole axiom (33).

Considering the first point, as $G_{\pm}(\theta;\xi,n) = \varphi_{\pm}(\theta;\xi,n)\Phi(\theta;\xi,n)$, it is enough to show that

$$\varphi_{+}(\theta;\xi,n) = \operatorname{const} \times \prod_{k=1}^{\left[\frac{1}{2\xi}\right]} \frac{\cos\frac{\pi}{n} - \cos\frac{\pi(1-2k\xi)}{n}}{\cosh\frac{\theta}{n} - \cos\frac{\pi(1-2k\xi)}{n}} \varphi_{-}(\theta;\xi,n).$$
(127)

From Eqs. (37) and (38) we have that

$$\frac{\varphi_{+}(\theta;\xi,n)}{\varphi_{-}(\theta;\xi,n)} = \prod_{k=1}^{\left[\frac{1}{2\xi}\right]} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{-\frac{i\theta}{\pi}-2k\xi+1}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{i\theta}{\pi}-2k\xi+1}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{-\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+2k\xi-1}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{i\theta}{\pi}+2k\xi-1}{2n}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{n-2k\xi+1}{2n}\right)^{2}\Gamma\left(\frac{n+2k\xi-1}{2n}\right)^{2}},$$

$$= \prod_{k=1}^{\left[\frac{1}{2\xi}\right]} \frac{\cos\frac{\pi(1-2k\xi)}{n}+1}{\cos\frac{\pi(1-2k\xi)}{n}-\cosh\frac{\theta}{n}},$$
(128)

hence (127) holds.

Let us now turn to the issue of the dynamical pole axiom (33) and write down some identities involving the ratios of the minimal form factors $R(\theta; \xi, n)$ and $G_{\pm}(\theta; \xi, n)$. Restricting ourselves first on the b_2 bound state when $\frac{1}{2} \ge \xi$, we can evaluate the residue in $F_{s\bar{s}}(\theta; \xi, n)$ corresponding to the second breather as

$$-i\operatorname{Res}_{\theta=0}F_{s\bar{s}}(\theta+i\pi(1-2\xi);\xi,n) = -\langle \mathcal{T} \rangle \frac{\sin\frac{\pi}{n}}{\sin\frac{\pi(1-2\xi)}{n}} \frac{G_{-}(i\pi(1-2\xi);\xi n)}{G_{-}(i\pi;\xi n)}.$$
 (129)

This function is compared to

$$\Gamma_{s\bar{s}}^{b_{2}}F_{b_{2}}(\xi,n) = \frac{\sqrt{\sin(2\pi\xi)}\csc^{2}\frac{\pi\xi}{2}}{2} \frac{\sin\frac{\pi}{n}\sqrt{2\tan\pi\xi}R(-i\pi\xi;\xi,n)}{2n\sin\frac{\pi(\xi-1)}{2n}\sin\frac{\pi(\xi+1)}{2n}R(i\pi;\xi,n)} = \csc^{2}\frac{\pi\xi}{2}\frac{\langle \mathcal{T}\rangle\sin\frac{\pi}{n}\sin\pi\xi R(-i\pi\xi;\xi,n)}{2n\sin\frac{\pi(\xi-1)}{2n}\sin\frac{\pi(\xi+1)}{2n}R(i\pi;\xi,n)}.$$
(130)

This means, that the following identity holds

$$\frac{n\tan\frac{\pi\xi}{2}\sin\frac{\pi(1-\xi)}{2n}\sin\frac{\pi(1-\xi)}{2n}}{\sin\frac{\pi(1-\xi)}{n}} = \frac{R(-i\pi\xi;\xi,n)G_{-}(i\pi;\xi,n)}{R(i\pi;\xi,n)G_{-}(i\pi(1-2\xi);\xi,n)},$$
(131)

for any integer $n \ge 1$ and $\frac{1}{2} \ge \xi$. To prove the above formula, we use the infinite product representations of $R(\theta; \xi, n)$ and $G_{-}(\theta; \xi, n)$. First, one can easily show via (36) the following identity

$$\frac{\Phi(i\pi;\xi,n)}{\Phi(i\pi(1-2\xi);\xi,n)} = \frac{\sin\frac{\pi}{2n}}{\sin\frac{\pi(1-2\xi)}{2n}} \prod_{k=0}^{\infty} \left[\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{k+1}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{k}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{k-\xi+1}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{k+\xi}{2n}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{k-2\xi+2}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{k-\xi+2}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{k+\xi-1}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{k+2\xi-1}{2n}\right)} \right]^{(-1)^{k}},$$
(132)

and similarly from (38) we have

$$\frac{\varphi_{-}(i\pi;\xi,n)}{\varphi_{-}(i\pi(1-2\xi);\xi,n)} = \frac{\sin\frac{\pi\xi}{n}}{\sin\frac{\pi(1-2\xi)}{n}},$$
(133)

and so multiplying these two formula, we obtain a simple expression for the ratio of *G*-functions above. For the other ratio of *R*-functions, we can use (89) after sending *N* to infinity. This cancels the integral and leaves an infinite product equivalent to (45) but more suitable for our ongoing studies. We have, therefore, the following expression

$$\frac{R(-i\pi\xi;\xi,n)}{R(i\pi;\xi,n)} =$$

$$\prod_{k=0}^{\infty} \left[\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{k-\xi+1}{2n}\right)^2 \Gamma\left(1+\frac{k+\xi}{2n}\right)^2 \Gamma\left(\frac{k-\xi}{2n}\right) \Gamma\left(1+\frac{k+\xi+1}{2n}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{k+\xi+2}{2n}\right) \Gamma\left(1+\frac{k-\xi-1}{2n}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{k+1}{2n}\right)^2 \Gamma\left(1+\frac{k}{2n}\right)^2 \Gamma\left(\frac{k-2\xi}{2n}\right) \Gamma\left(1+\frac{k+2\xi+1}{2n}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{k+2}{2n}\right) \Gamma\left(1+\frac{k-1}{2n}\right)} \right]^{(-1)^k}.$$
(134)

Then, putting these results together and carrying out some Gamma-function cancellations, the r.h.s. of (131) becomes

$$\frac{R(-i\pi\xi;\xi,n)G_{-}(i\pi;\xi,n)}{R(i\pi;\xi,n)G_{-}(i\pi(1-2\xi);\xi,n)} = \frac{\sin\frac{\pi\xi}{2n}}{\sin\frac{\pi(1-2\xi)}{n}} \frac{\Gamma\left(1+\frac{\xi}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(1-\frac{\xi}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{\xi}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(-\frac{\xi}{2n}\right)}{\Gamma\left(1+\frac{\xi-1}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(1-\frac{\xi+1}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{\xi+1}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{1-\xi}{2n}\right)} \times \prod_{k=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{\Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{k+1}{2n}\right)\Gamma^{2}\left(1+\frac{k}{2n}\right)}{\Gamma\left(1+\frac{k+1+\xi}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{k+1-\xi}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{k-\xi}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{k+\xi}{2n}\right)}\right)^{(-1)^{k}}.$$
(135)

Using the standard identity $\Gamma(x)\Gamma(1-x) = \pi \csc \pi x$ the first set of Gamma-functions can be simplified to

$$\frac{\Gamma\left(1+\frac{\xi}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(1-\frac{\xi}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{\xi}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(-\frac{\xi}{2n}\right)}{\Gamma\left(1+\frac{\xi-1}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(1-\frac{\xi+1}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{\xi+1}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{1-\xi}{2n}\right)} = \frac{\sin\frac{\pi(\xi+1)}{2n}\sin\frac{\pi(\xi-1)}{2n}}{\sin^2\frac{\pi\xi}{2n}},$$
(136)

while the infinite product can be easily rewritten using the standard identity $\Gamma(x+1) = x\Gamma(x)$ yielding

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{(2n)^4 \Gamma\left(\frac{2N+2-\xi}{2n}+1\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{2N+2+\xi}{2n}+1\right)}{\Gamma\left(-\frac{\xi}{2n}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{\xi}{2n}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{N+1}{n}\right)^2} \prod_{k=1}^{2N+1} \left(k^2(k-\xi)(k+\xi)\right)^{(-1)^k} = -n \tan\frac{\pi\xi}{2} \sin\frac{\pi\xi}{2n}$$
(137)

where the l.h.s. can be evaluated analytically. For fixed N, the product can be expressed in terms of Gamma functions and Pochhammer's symbols and then the limit can be performed straightforwardly. Putting everything together, we find (131), as expected.

Concerning now the regime when the breather b_4 is present, that is, $\frac{1}{4} \ge \xi > 0$, we now write

$$-i\operatorname{Res}_{\theta=0}F_{s\bar{s}}(\theta+i\pi(1-4\xi);\xi,n) = \langle \mathcal{T} \rangle \frac{\sin\frac{\pi}{n}\sin\frac{\pi(1-\xi)}{n}}{\sin\frac{\pi(1-3\xi)}{n}\sin\frac{\pi(1-4\xi)}{n}} \frac{G_{-}(i\pi(1-4\xi);\xi,n)}{G_{-}(i\pi;\xi,n)}, \quad (138)$$

which is expected to be equal to

$$\Gamma_{s\bar{s}}^{b_4} F_{b_4} = \langle \mathcal{T} \rangle \frac{2 \sin \frac{\pi}{2n} \sin \frac{\pi}{n} \cot^2 \frac{\pi\xi}{2} \cos \frac{\pi(1-\xi)}{2n} \left(1+2 \cos \frac{\pi\xi}{n}\right)}{n^2 \sin^2 \frac{\pi(1+\xi)}{2n} \sin \frac{\pi(1-2\xi)}{2n} \sin \frac{\pi(1-3\xi)}{2n}} \times \frac{R(-3\pi i\xi;\xi,n)R(-2\pi i\xi;\xi,n)^2R(-i\pi\xi;\xi,n)^3}{R(i\pi;\xi,n)^2}.$$
(139)

This means, that the following identity holds

$$\frac{n^{2} \tan^{2} \frac{\pi\xi}{2} \sin^{2} \frac{\pi(1+\xi)}{2n} \sin \frac{\pi(1-3\xi)}{2n} \sin \frac{\pi(1-2\xi)}{2n} \sin \frac{\pi(1-\xi)}{n}}{2 \sin \frac{\pi}{2n} \left(1+2 \cos \frac{\pi\xi}{n}\right) \sin \frac{\pi(1-3\xi)}{n} \sin \frac{\pi(1-4\xi)}{n} \cos \frac{\pi(1-\xi)}{2n}}{2n} = \frac{R(-3\pi i\xi;\xi,n)R(-2\pi i\xi;\xi,n)^{2}R(-i\pi\xi;\xi,n)^{3}G_{-}(i\pi;\xi,n)}{R(i\pi;\xi,n)^{2}G_{-}(i\pi(1-4\xi);\xi,n)},$$
(140)

for any integer $n \ge 1$ and $\frac{1}{4} \ge \xi$. This expression can be proven in a similar fashion to the proof of (131). For brevity, we just write the main steps. We can show

$$\frac{\Phi(i\pi;\xi n)}{\Phi(i\pi(1-4\xi);\xi n)} = \frac{\sin\frac{\pi}{2n}}{\sin\frac{\pi(1-4\xi)}{2n}} \prod_{k=0}^{\infty} \left[\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{k+1}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{k}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{k-\xi+1}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{k+\xi}{2n}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{k-2\xi+2}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{k-\xi+2}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{k+\xi-1}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{k+2\xi-1}{2n}\right)} \right]^{(-1)^{\kappa}}$$
(141)

from Eq. (36) and from Eq. (38) we have

$$\frac{\varphi_{-}(i\pi;\xi,n)}{\varphi_{-}(i\pi(1-4\xi);\xi,n)} = \frac{\sin\frac{\pi\xi}{n}\sin\frac{2\pi\xi}{n}}{\sin\frac{\pi(1-4\xi)}{n}\sin\frac{\pi(1-3\xi)}{n}}.$$
(142)

The other expression for $R(-i2\pi\xi;\xi,n)$ and $R(-i3\pi\xi;\xi,n)$ can obtained by a simple substitution into the infinite product formula obtained from (89). When all the terms are collected, we end up with

$$\frac{R(-3\pi i\xi;\xi,n)R(-2\pi i\xi;\xi,n)^{2}R(-i\pi\xi;\xi,n)^{3}G_{-}(i\pi;\xi,n)}{R(i\pi;\xi,n)^{2}G_{-}(i\pi(1-4\xi);\xi,n)} = \frac{\sin\frac{\pi\xi}{n}\sin\frac{2\pi\xi}{n}\sin\frac{2\pi\xi}{n}\sin\frac{\pi}{2n}}{\Gamma(i\pi;\xi,n)^{2}G_{-}(i\pi(1-4\xi);\xi,n)} \frac{\Gamma\left(1+\frac{\xi}{n}\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{3\xi}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{2\xi}{n}\right)}{\Gamma\left(1+\frac{2\xi}{n}\right)\sin\frac{\pi(1-4\xi)}{n}} \frac{\Gamma\left(1+\frac{\xi}{2n}\right)^{2}\Gamma\left(1+\frac{\xi}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{3\xi-1}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{4\xi-1}{2n}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{k-4\xi+2}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{k-2\xi+2}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{k-2\xi+2}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{k-2\xi+2}{2n}\right)^{2}\Gamma\left(\frac{k-\xi+2}{2n}\right)} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{k-4\xi}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{k-2\xi+2}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{k-2\xi}{2n}\right)}{\Gamma\left(1+\frac{k-\xi-1}{2n}\right)^{2}\Gamma\left(\frac{k-\xi+2}{2n}\right)^{2}\Gamma\left(1+\frac{k-\xi+1}{2n}\right)^{2}\Gamma\left(1+\frac{k+\xi+1}{2n}\right)^{3}} \prod_{i=1}^{n-1/k} \left(1+\frac{k-\xi+2}{2n}\right)^{2}\Gamma\left(1+\frac{k+\xi+2}{2n}\right)^{2}\Gamma\left(1+\frac{k+\xi+1}{2n}\right)^{3}} + \frac{\Gamma\left(1+\frac{k+\xi+2}{2n}\right)^{2}\Gamma\left(1+\frac{k+\xi+2}{2n}\right)^{2}\Gamma\left(1+\frac{k+\xi+2}{2n}\right)^{2}}{\Gamma\left(1+\frac{k-\xi+2}{2n}\right)^{2}\Gamma\left(1+\frac{k+\xi+2}{2n}\right)^{2}\Gamma\left(1+\frac{k+\xi+1}{2n}\right)^{3}} + \frac{\Gamma\left(1+\frac{k+\xi+2}{2n}\right)^{2}\Gamma\left(1+\frac{k+\xi+2}{2n}\right)^{2}}{\Gamma\left(1+\frac{k+\xi+2}{2n}\right)^{2}\Gamma\left(1+\frac{k+\xi+2}{2n}\right)^{2}} \prod_{i=1}^{n-1/k} \left(1+\frac{k+\xi+2}{2n}\right)^{2} \prod_{i=1}^{n-$$

which, proceeding as above, can be simplified to

$$\frac{R(-3\pi i\xi;\xi,n)R(-2\pi i\xi;\xi,n)^{2}R(-i\pi\xi;\xi,n)^{3}G_{-}(i\pi;\xi,n)}{R(i\pi;\xi,n)^{2}G_{-}(i\pi(1-4\xi);\xi,n)} = \frac{\sin\frac{\pi\xi}{n}\sin\frac{\pi\xi}{n}\sin\frac{\pi}{2n}}{\sin\frac{\pi(1-4\xi)}{n}\sin\frac{\pi(1-4\xi)}{n}\sin\frac{\pi(1-4\xi)}{2n}} \\
\times \frac{(2n)^{4}\xi^{2}\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2n}\right)^{2}\Gamma\left(1-\frac{1}{2n}\right)^{2}\Gamma\left(1+\frac{4\xi-1}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{3\xi}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{2\xi}{2n}\right)}{\left(1-\xi\right)^{2}\Gamma\left(1+\frac{2\xi-1}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{3\xi-1}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(1-\frac{4\xi}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{1-3\xi}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{1-2\xi}{2n}\right)} \\
\times \frac{\Gamma\left(-\frac{2\xi}{n}\right)\Gamma\left(-\frac{3\xi}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(-\frac{\xi}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(1-\frac{\xi+1}{2n}\right)^{2}}{\Gamma\left(1+\frac{\xi-1}{2n}\right)^{2}\Gamma\left(1+\frac{\xi+1}{2n}\right)^{2}\Gamma\left(-\frac{\xi}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{1-\xi+1}{2n}\right)^{2}} \\
\times \lim_{N\to\infty} \left[\frac{\Gamma\left(1+\frac{2N+1-\xi}{2n}\right)^{2}\Gamma\left(1+\frac{2N+2+\xi}{2n}\right)^{3}\Gamma\left(\frac{2N+3+\xi}{2n}\right)^{2}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{2N+3-\xi}{2n}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{2N+2+\xi}{2n}\right)}\prod_{k=2}^{2N+1}\left(k^{4}(k+\xi)^{2}(k-\xi)^{2}\right)^{(-1)^{k}}\right].$$
(144)

Just as in the earlier proof, the product of Gamma-functions outside the limit can easily be simplified. The infinite product can be again expressed in terms of Gamma-functions and Pochhammer's symbols and eventually the limit can be performed. Omitting details such as

the extensive use of Gamma-function identities, we finally have

$$\frac{R(-3\pi i\xi;\xi,n)R(-2\pi i\xi;\xi,n)^{2}R(-i\pi\xi;\xi,n)^{3}G_{-}(i\pi;\xi,n)}{R(i\pi;\xi,n)^{2}G_{-}(i\pi(1-4\xi);\xi,n)} = \frac{\sin\frac{\pi\xi}{n}\sin\frac{2\pi\xi}{n}\sin\frac{2\pi\xi}{n}\sin\frac{\pi}{2n}}{\sin\frac{\pi(1-4\xi)}{n}\sin\frac{\pi(1-3\xi)}{n}\sin\frac{\pi(1-4\xi)}{2n}} \\
\times \frac{64n^{6}\xi^{2}}{\pi^{2}(\xi^{2}-1)^{2}}\sin^{2}\frac{\pi(\xi+1)}{2n}\sin\frac{\pi(1-\xi)}{2n}\csc\frac{\pi\xi}{n}\csc\frac{2\pi\xi}{2n}\csc\frac{3\pi\xi}{n} \qquad (145) \\
\times \sin\frac{\pi(1-4\xi)}{2n}\sin\frac{\pi(1-3\xi)}{2n}\sin\frac{\pi(1-2\xi)}{2n}\csc^{2}\frac{\pi}{2n}\sin\frac{\pi\xi}{2n} \\
\times \frac{\pi^{2}(\xi-1)^{2}(\xi+1)^{2}\tan^{2}\frac{\pi\xi}{2}}{64n^{4}\xi^{2}},$$

where the last line is the result of the limit and the two lines before last are the result of simplifying all the Gamma-functions outside the infinite product. Simplifying further we obtain the l.h.s. of (140), completing our proof.

E \triangle Sum Rule Evaluation

In this Appendix we summarize our numerical results for the sum (72) and several distinct values of ξ and *n*. As discussed in Section 6 we include one- and two-particle contributions. In the regime $1 \ge \xi > \frac{1}{3}$ all the non-vanishing two- and one-particle contributions are taken into account as described in equations (73)-(74).

As we can see in Tables 1 and 2, the contribution from the b_1b_1 and b_2b_2 terms is very small compared to those of $s\bar{s}$ and b_2 . Assuming this tendency to hold for the contributions b_3b_3 , b_2b_4 and b_4b_4 , in the interaction regimes $\frac{1}{3} \ge \xi > \frac{1}{5}$ we have neglected the corresponding terms and still found good saturation of the rule (see Table 3).

Table 2: One- and two-particle contributions to the Δ sum rule for four values of $\xi \in (\frac{1}{3}, \frac{1}{2})$. It is interesting to observe how the breather contributions become larger as ξ is decreased, sending the theory deeper into the attractive regime. For instance, in Table (d) the *ss* contribution accounts only for 20% of the value of $\Delta_{\mathcal{T}}$.

n	$\Delta_{\mathcal{T}}$	sī	b_1b_1	b_2b_2	b_2	Σ
2	0.0625	0.0526252	0.0026597	0.0000016	0.0050643	0.0603508
3	0.11111	0.0930742	0.0049999	0.0000030	0.0085415	0.1066187
4	0.15625	0.1306165	0.0071536	0.0000044	0.0117942	0.1495687
5	0.2	0.1670215	0.0092264	0.0000057	0.0149699	0.1912235

(a) $\xi = 0.48734$

(b)	ξ	= 0.45133
-----	---	-----------

n	$\Delta_{\mathcal{T}}$	ss	b_1b_1	$b_{2}b_{2}$	b_2	Σ
2	0.0625	0.0398813	0.0034363	0.0000204	0.0168508	0.0601887
3	0.11111	0.0712682	0.0064312	0.0000387	0.0285433	0.1062814
4	0.15625	0.1003544	0.0091893	0.0000555	0.0394690	0.1490682
5	0.2	0.1285211	0.0118452	0.0000717	0.0501288	0.1905668

(c) $\xi = 0.38231$

n	$\Delta_{\mathcal{T}}$	ss	b_1b_1	$b_{2}b_{2}$	b_2	Σ
2	0.0625	0.0230446	0.0054990	0.0000904	0.0313208	0.0599548
3	0.11111	0.0419772	0.0102062	0.0001745	0.0534327	0.1057905
4	0.15625	0.0594778	0.0145467	0.0002518	0.0740622	0.1483385
5	0.2	0.0763850	0.0187308	0.0003260	0.0941674	0.1896092

(d) $\xi = 0.30091$

n	$\Delta_{\mathcal{T}}$	ss	b_1b_1	$b_{2}b_{2}$	<i>b</i> ₂	Σ
2	0.0625	0.0112334	0.0093408	0.0001931	0.0390784	0.0598457
3	0.11111	0.0209003	0.0171719	0.0003779	0.0671062	0.1055563
4	0.15625	0.0298140	0.0244039	0.0005479	0.0932251	0.1479910
5	0.2	0.0384043	0.0313831	0.0007111	0.1186557	0.1891542

Table 3: One- and two-particle contributions to the Δ sum rule for $\xi = 0.22108$. For this value of the coupling the first four breathers can be formed and approximately half the value of $\Delta_{\mathcal{T}}$ comes from breather contributions. Even after neglecting the terms $b_3 b_3, b_2 b_4$ and $b_4 b_4$ the rule is 95% saturated.

n	$\Delta_{\mathcal{T}}$	sī	b_1b_1	b_2b_2	b_1b_3	b_2	b_4	Σ
2	0.0625	0.0031453	0.0154695	0.0002683	0.0004363	0.0395954	0.0015294	0.060444
3	0.11111	0.0060694	0.0281816	0.0005309	0.0008206	0.0683090	0.0027951	0.106707
4	0.15625	0.0087587	0.0399377	0.0007727	0.0011717	0.0950521	0.0039606	0.149653
5	0.2	0.0113407	0.0512960	0.0010044	0.0015091	0.1210735	0.0050857	0.191309

References

- A. B. Zamolodchikov and A. B. Zamolodchikov, Factorized S-matrices in two dimensions as the exact solutions of certain relativistic quantum field theory models, Ann. Phys. 120, 253 (1979), doi:10.1016/0003-4916(79)90391-9.
- [2] F. A. Smirnov, A general formula for soliton form factors in the quantum sine-Gordon model, J. Phys. A 19, L575 (1986), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/19/10/003.
- [3] F. Smirnov, Form factors in completely integrable models of quantum field theory, Adv. Series in Math. Phys. 14, World Scientific, Singapore (1992), doi:10.1142/1115.
- [4] H. M. Babujian, A. Fring, M. Karowski and A. Zapletal, *Exact form factors in integrable quantum field theories: The sine-Gordon model*, Nucl. Phys. B **538**, 535 (1999), doi:10.1016/S0550-3213(98)00737-8.
- [5] H. Babujian and M. Karowski, The exact quantum sine-Gordon field equation and other non-perturbative results, Phys. Lett. B 471, 53 (1999), doi:10.1016/S0370-2693(99)01320-9.
- [6] H. Babujian and M. Karowski, Exact form factors in integrable quantum field theories: the sine-Gordon model (II), Nucl. Phys. B 620, 407 (2002), doi:10.1016/S0550-3213(01)00551-X.
- [7] H. Babujian and M. Karowski, Sine-Gordon breather form factors and quantum field equations, J. Phys. A 35, 9081 (2002), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/35/43/308.
- [8] H. Babujian and M. Karowski, Towards the construction of Wightman functions of integrable quantum field theories, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 19, 34 (2004), doi:10.1142/S0217751X04020294.
- [9] G. Delfino, Off-critical correlations in the Ashkin-Teller model, Phys. Lett. B 450, 196 (1999), doi:10.1016/S0370-2693(99)00123-9.
- [10] G. Delfino and P. Grinza, Universal ratios along a line of critical points. The Ashkin–Teller model, Nucl. Phys. B 682, 521 (2004), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2004.01.007.
- S. L. Lukyanov, Free field representation for massive integrable models, Commun. Math. Phys. 167, 183 (1995), doi:10.1007/BF02099357.
- S. L. Lukyanov, Form factors of exponential fields in the sine-Gordon model, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 12, 2543 (1997), doi:10.1142/S0217732397002673.
- S. L. Lukyanov, Angular quantization and form factors in massive integrable models, Nucl. Phys. B 512 616 (1998), doi:10.1016/S0550-3213(97)00713-X.
- [14] M. Jimbo, T. Miwa and F. Smirnov, Fermionic structure in the sine-Gordon model: Form factors and null-vectors, Nucl. Phys. B 852, 390 (2011), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2011.06.016.
- [15] M. Jimbo, T. Miwa and F. Smirnov, Fermionic screening operators in the sine–Gordon model, Physica D 241, 2122 (2012), doi:10.1016/j.physd.2012.05.012.
- [16] M. Jimbo, T. Miwa and F. Smirnov, Hidden Grassmann structure in the XXZ model V: Sine-Gordon model, Lett. Math. Phys. 96, 325 (2011), doi:10.1007/s11005-010-0438-9.

- [17] F. Buccheri and G. Takács, Finite temperature one-point functions in non-diagonal integrable field theories: the sine-Gordon model, J. High Energy Phys. 03, 026 (2014), doi:10.1007/JHEP03(2014)026.
- [18] I. Kukuljan, S. Sotiriadis and G. Takács, Correlation functions of the quantum Sine-Gordon model in and out of equilibrium, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121, 110402 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.121.110402.
- [19] D. X. Horváth, M. Kormos and G. Takács, Overlap singularity and time evolution in integrable quantum field theory, J. High Energy Phys. 08, 170 (2018), doi:10.1007/JHEP08(2018)170.
- [20] D. X. Horváth, I. Lovas, M. Kormos, G. Takács and G. Zaránd, Nonequilibrium time evolution and rephasing in the quantum sine-Gordon model, Phys. Rev. A 100, 013613 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.100.013613.
- [21] M. Lencsés and G. Takács, *Breather boundary form factors in sine-Gordon theory*, Nucl. Phys. B **852**, 615 (2011), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2011.07.010.
- [22] T. Pálmai and G. Takács, *Diagonal multisoliton matrix elements in finite volume*, Phys. Rev. D 87, 045010 (2013), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.87.045010.
- [23] G. Fehér and G. Takács, Sine-Gordon form factors in finite volume, Nucl. Phys. B 852, 441 (2011), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2011.06.020.
- [24] G. Fehér, T. Pálmai, and G. Takács, Sine-Gordon multi-soliton form factors in finite volume, Phys. Rev. D 85, 085005 (2012), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.85.085005.
- [25] A. Fring, G. Mussardo, and P. Simonetti, Form-factors for integrable Lagrangian field theories, the sinh-Gordon theory, Nucl. Phys. B 393, 413 (1993), doi:10.1016/0550-3213(93)90252-K.
- [26] A. Koubek and G. Mussardo, *On the operator content of the sinh-Gordon model*, Phys. Lett. B **311**, 193 (1993), doi:10.1016/0370-2693(93)90554-U.
- [27] J. L. Cardy, O. A. Castro-Alvaredo and B. Doyon, Form factors of branch-point twist fields in quantum integrable models and entanglement entropy, J. Stat. Phys. 130, 129 (2008), doi:10.1007/s10955-007-9422-x.
- [28] D. X. Horváth and P. Calabrese, Symmetry resolved entanglement in integrable field theories via form factor bootstrap, J. High Energy Phys. 11, 131 (2020), doi:10.1007/JHEP11(2020)131.
- [29] D. X. Horváth, L. Capizzi and P. Calabrese, U(1) symmetry resolved entanglement in free 1+1 dimensional field theories via form factor bootstrap, J. High Energy Phys. 05, 197 (2021), doi:10.1007/JHEP05(2021)197.
- [30] O. A. Castro-Alvaredo and B. Doyon, Bi-partite entanglement entropy in integrable models with backscattering, J. Phys. A 41, 275203 (2008), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/41/27/275203.
- [31] O. A. Castro-Alvaredo and E. Levi, Higher particle form factors of branch point twist fields in integrable quantum field theories, J.Phys. A 44, 255401 (2011), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/44/25/255401.

- [32] A. B. Zamolodchikov, Mass scale in the sine-Gordon model and its reductions, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 10, 1125 (1995), doi:10.1142/S0217751X9500053X.
- [33] I. Ya. Arafyeva and V.E. Korepin, *Scattering in two-dimensional model with Lagrangian* $(1/\gamma)((\partial_{\mu}u)^2/2 + m^2\cos(u-1))$, Pisma Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. **20**, 680 (1974).
- [34] S. N. Vergeles and V.M. Gryanik, *Two-dimensional quantum field theories having exact solutions*, Sov. J. Nucl. Phys. **23**, 704 (1976)
- [35] P. Calabrese and J. L. Cardy, *Entanglement entropy and quantum field theory*, J. Stat. Mech.
 06, P002 (2004), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2004/06/P06002.
- [36] B. Doyon, *Bi-partite entanglement entropy in massive two-dimensional quantum field theory*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **102**, 031602 (2009), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.102.031602.
- [37] M. Karowski and P. Weisz, Exact S matrices and form-factors in (1+1)-dimensional field theoretic models with soliton behavior, Nucl. Phys. B 139, 455 (1978), doi:10.1016/0550-3213(78)90362-0.
- [38] G. Mussardo, *Statistical field theory: An introduction to exactly solved model in statistical physics*, Oxford University Press (2010).
- [39] B. Pozsgay and G. Takács, *Characterization of resonances using finite size effects*, Nucl. Phys. B **748**, 485 (2006), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2006.05.007.
- [40] G. Takács, Form factor perturbation theory from finite volume, Nucl. Phys. B 825, 466 (2010), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2009.10.001.
- [41] G. Delfino, P. Simonetti and J. L. Cardy, Asymptotic factorisation of form factors in twodimensional quantum field theory, Phys. Lett. B 387, 327 (1996), doi:10.1016/0370-2693(96)01035-0.
- [42] O. A. Castro-Alvaredo and A. Fring, *Renormalization group flow with unstable particles*, Phys. Rev. D 63, 021701 (2001), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.63.021701.
- [43] L. Dixon, D. Friedan, E. Martinec and S. Shenker, *The conformal field theory of orbifolds*, Nucl. Phys. B 282, 13 (1987), doi:10.1016/0550-3213(87)90676-6.
- [44] P. Calabrese and J. Cardy, Quantum quenches in extended systems, J. Stat. Mech. P06008 (2007), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2007/06/P06008.
- [45] P. Calabrese and J. Cardy, Entanglement and correlation functions following a local quench: a conformal field theory approach, J. Stat. Mech. P10004 (2007), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2007/10/P10004.
- [46] O. A. Castro-Alvaredo, M. Lencsés, I. M. Szécsényi and J. Viti, Entanglement dynamics after a quench in Ising field theory: a branch point twist field approach, J. High Energy Phys. 12, 079 (2019), doi:10.1007/JHEP12(2019)079.
- [47] O. A. Castro-Alvaredo, M. Lencsés, I. M. Szécsényi and J. Viti, Entanglement oscillations near a quantum critical point, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124, 230601 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.124.230601.
- [48] G. Delfino, Quantum quenches with integrable pre-quench dynamics, J. Phys. A 47, 402001 (2014), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/47/40/402001.

- [49] M. Lencsés, O. Pomponio, and G. Takács, *Relaxation and entropy generation after quenching quantum spin chains*, SciPost Phys. 9, 011 (2020), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.9.1.011.
- [50] G. Delfino and J. Viti, *On the theory of quantum quenches in near-critical systems*, J. Phys. A **50**, 084004 (2017), doi:10.1088/1751-8121/aa5660.
- [51] S. L. Lukyanov and A. B. Zamolodchikov, *Exact expectation values of local fields in quantum sine-Gordon model*, Nucl. Phys. B 493, 571 (1997), doi:10.1016/S0550-3213(97)00123-5.
- [52] K. Hódsági, M. Kormos, and G. Takács, Quench dynamics of the Ising field theory in a magnetic field, SciPost Phys. 5, 027 (2018), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.5.3.027.
- [53] K. Hódsági, M. Kormos, and G. Takács, *Perturbative post-quench overlaps in Quantum Field Theory*, J. High Energy Phys. **08**, 047 (2019), doi:10.1007/JHEP08(2019)047.
- [54] V. Alba and P. Calabrese, Entanglement and thermodynamics after a quantum quench in integrable systems, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 114, 7947 (2017), doi:10.1073/pnas.1703516114.